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Tuesday, January 17, 2006

--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Good morning.  The Board is sitting today to hear evidence with respect to the application that has been filed by Toronto Hydro, the setting of the distribution rates.  Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Yes, sir.  We are ready to proceed with our first panel Mr. Chair.  If I could ask the witnesses to go forward to be sworn in.


TORONTO HYDRO CORPORATION - PANEL 1:

David O'Brien; Sworn.


Anthony Haines; Sworn.

EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  I would first ask each witness to introduce themselves and spell their name for the record and indicate their title and position, starting with you Mr. O'Brien.


MR. O'BRIEN:  My name is Dave O'Brien, and my last name is spelled O-B-R-I-E-N, and I am the president and chief executive officer of Toronto Hydro Corporation.


MR. HAINES:  Good morning.  My name is Anthony Haines, H-A-I-N-E-S.  I'm the chief administrative officer of Toronto Hydro Corporation.  My responsibilities are in the areas of the customer care, customer service, the shared-service responsibilities and the affiliate responsibilities.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, on the weekend we circulated CVs for all witnesses of the three Toronto Hydro Panels.  I've made extra copies and left them with Mr. Millar.  I wonder if I could just mark this whole bundle of CVs as one exhibit, please.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Do we have those, Mr. Millar.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Millar, they are in the basket.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Rodger.  I'm just discussing it.  I want to make sure we get our exhibit designations correct.  We started with K yesterday, Mr. Chair.  We may have to change K, because I think we already used K in the ‑‑ on the Issues Day, so there may be some overlap there, but maybe on the break I'll undertake to --


MR. KAISER:  Is there some reason why we can't just give these simple numbers?  I have no idea what these alphabet numbers are supposed to mean.  Can we number them 1 to 1,000?


MR. MILLAR:  It's a long-term practice, however, and I've just been adopting it.  Maybe I can suggest we go to the next letter, which is L, and we'll call these Exhibit L1.1.


MR. KAISER:  Didn't you have 1.1 yesterday?


MR. MILLAR:  It was K 1.1, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see.  So we're going to use both K and L.


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  K prior to the hearing; L after the hearing.


MR. KAISER:  That's interesting.  L it is, L1.1.


MR. MILLAR:  That's all the CVs, Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  All the CVs from the Toronto Hydro witnesses.


EXHIBIT NO. L1.1:  CVS OF TORONTO HYDRO WITNESSES.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MR. RODGER:  Gentlemen, I wonder if you could please provide overview of your roles in relation to Toronto Hydro and the matters that you wish to address in this proceeding.  I'll start with you, Mr. O'Brien, please.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Mr. Chair, as Mr. Rodger stated at the beginning of his introduction, Mr. Haines and I constitute the policy panel for Toronto Hydro in this hearing.  And Mr. Haines and I would like to address a number of key issues, over- reaching matters with respect to the distribution rate application.


There's really four areas that we would like to concentrate on.  Number one is the recent history of Toronto Hydro and the benefits and challenges of the amalgamation of the six former municipal electrical utilities in Metropolitan Toronto into what is now Toronto Hydro.


The second point we would like to address are the challenges that are facing the Toronto Hydro system today.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. O'Brien, sorry to interrupt.  Would you mind just speaking up a bit, moving the microphone a bit closer?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes, absolutely.  Sorry about that.  The challenges -- the second point we would like to address are the challenges facing Toronto Hydro at this point in time, things like the aging plant, our aging work force, implementation of smart meters, our conservation and demand management program, our control room consolidation; point three, the corporate structure of the Toronto Hydro family; and point 4, the issue of access to efficient capital.


If I could continue, Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Yes, Mr. O'Brien.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Toronto Hydro Corporation and two of its subsidiaries, including the local distribution company or the LDC, Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited, were incorporated in June 1999, along with the other utilities in this province.


When we refer to the distribution company in this hearing, we'll refer it to as Toronto Hydro, and when we refer -- we will refer to the parent company as THC.  


Toronto Hydro is the largest municipal electricity distribution company in Canada.  In fact, I'm told it's the second largest in North America.  We have approximately 670,000 customers.  We operate about $1.5 billion worth of net capital assets.  Our system includes five control centres, 34 terminal stations, one of which is owned by Toronto Hydro, and the rest are either owned by Hydro One or shared with Toronto Hydro.  


We have 198 municipal substations, more than 58,000 distribution transformers, 25,000 primary switches, and over 91,000 kilometres of overhead wires supported by about 160,000 poles and 7,500 kilometres of underground cables.  In fact, if you laid our overhead wires and underground cable together, we would cross Canada two‑and‑a‑half times.


Prior to the creation of new City of Toronto in 1998, Toronto Hydro's service area was the former City of Toronto, and Toronto Hydro an amalgamation of the distribution utilities of the former Metropolitan Toronto area, which included Toronto Hydro, North York Hydro, York Hydro, East York Hydro, Etobicoke Hydro and Scarborough PUC.


The former municipal electrical utilities serving the former municipalities were merged into one utility.


Now, the utility amalgamations at that time created a number of opportunities for utilities; I also say a number of challenges, but just let me talk about some of the opportunities.  Cost reductions through the reduction of overlapping functions in staff was an obvious and -- opportunity that most utilities took advantage of; efficiency increases resulting from the sharing of services and staff among the members of the Toronto Hydro corporate family, subject to the Board's affiliated relationship code, and ongoing work to achieve further savings from the consolidation of the control rooms of the five legacy utilities.


We are pleased to be able to advise the Board that the new Toronto Hydro has realized many opportunities for cost reductions without sacrificing service to our customers.  The staff complement has been reduced by 1,000, from 2,500 employees of the merged utilities to 1,500 employees today in Toronto Hydro.


We are constantly seeking further cost-reduction reduction opportunities while continuing to improve our service.  For example, wait times for customer calling, customers calling our customer service centre, have been reduced dramatically, and this is, of course, one of the service quality indicators that the OEB monitors.  


Notwithstanding the cost reductions, we have been able to improve our safety performance statistics by 90 percent in that period of time.


We have very recently been named one of Canada's top 100 employers, and you'll see most of the witnesses before the panel from Toronto Hydro wearing this pin.  This pin was given to every single one of our employees in recognition of that tremendous feat.  


Toronto Hydro efforts are creating direct benefits for its customers in this application, and our customers will be experiencing rate reductions averaging a -- distribution rate reductions averaging 5.7 percent and overall bill reductions of 1.7 percent.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. O'Brien.  If I could turn to you next, Mr. Haines, I wonder if you would please tell the Board about the challenges facing the amalgamated Toronto Hydro.


MR. HAINES:  Yes, thank you.  I want to elaborate on a number of points that Mr. O'Brien has raised already, so in order, the aging plant, to give you more information about that. 


Thirty to 40 percent of our plant that's in service today has exceeded its expected life.  In fact, the investment that is found within this application does not change that trend.  In other words even with the application amount of investment, the plant continues to age at a rate greater than the reinvestment in that plant, which is a real challenge for us, and we are now turning our mind around how we, orderly, change that trend over a number of years.

     The ageing work force.  Today our average age of our employee is 47.  The average retirement age is 59.  And so we expect two things:  at the executive level, we expect a fair amount of turnover in the next five years, as people retire - and Mr. O'Brien is going to speak a little more about that in a moment - and with respect to outside trades. In particular, we expect about a third of our outside trades to retire in the next 10 years, a real challenge for us in that it takes about five to six years to get somebody ready, from the point they enter the company, go through the trade, through the apprentice programme, to the point where they can be effective in the delivery of service.  So we are now starting to ramp up that effort to bring people in to go through the five years of training, so that they would be ready once the expected retirement bubble hits us.

     In terms of our control room, what I often talk to our --  many people about is, although we have one name today and one, you know, brand, and many of our processes have been consolidated, the area that still remains behind, and really operates as they did at the time of the amalgamation is the control-room operations.  And the control room, of course, are the brain of the, you know, the distribution system.  And so, if you go into our control room today, you will see, you know, we’ve been able to consolidate into a single place, but they are not a consolidated control room.  

     And so the first thing you would find if you went in there is one desk that operates as it did at the time that it was amalgamated.  It uses the processes that it had in place at the time, and most of which are manual.  So it's quite striking.  And I know, when I arrived with the company, I went and, you know -- Tell me about your process:  and you literally have maps with pins on walls.  And, okay, you go to the next desk:  Okay, tell me about what you do now in your former utility, and they have a different process.  And so a great amount of our effort right now that we'll be talking about, in terms of the investment in technologies and dealing with the ageing workforce, is around this control room, and the ability, then, to bring forward a consolidated control room. 

     Where it’s a real challenge for us right now is in -- for example, in August 19th last year, you may recall that huge storm that rolled through Toronto, and, in fact, crossed over about three of the previous municipal service areas.  Well, we had 400 or 500 lines laying on the ground, and the capacity to manage each one of those, you know, from the -- using these manual systems was stretched beyond its capacity.  And to manage the challenge of coordinating, you know -- where the outage was, when it crossed over a desk, is almost an impossible task.  That puts us in an issue of response time to our customers, and safety for our workers, because the capacity to ensure the system is not live when workers are working on it really needs a great deal of coordination, which is very much a challenge in the existing model.  And so we’d like to expand upon that further, in terms of consolidation of the control room.

     As we will be talking about, there is a need to invest heavily in the distribution system, and we need to ensure efficient access to capital.  We have filed a shelf prospectus over the last period of time for $1M.  We do -- we’re waiting for the city to give us direction with respect to monetization of the city note, and we are expecting - although we haven't had confirmation yet - that some portion of that note will, in fact, be monetized in '06, the details of which we do not have yet.  But, certainly, efficient access to capital at that time is a very sensitive point for us. 

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. O’Brien, returning to you: would you please describe the THC corporate structure. 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.

     Mr. Chairman, I’d refer the Board to DEC IR7, section E, tab 2, schedule 7, page 3 of 8, where you'll find an organizational chart.  

     Mr. Chairman, this Board chart reflects the organizational structure of the Toronto Hydro group of companies.  You'll see in the organizational chart that I have reporting to me Mr. Haines and Mr. Jim Black, whose is the President and CEO of our -- of Toronto Hydro.  In addition to Mr. Haines and Mr. Black reporting to go me, I have a number of other individuals who are noted there.  What’s -- what I’d like to draw the Board's attention to are the reporting relationships to Mr. Haines and Mr. Black, and you'll see those in the organizational chart.

     I would like to talk to the Board, if I may, about our corporate structure, particularly at the executive level, and why we are structured the way we are and where, ultimately, our organization is going to go.

     Toronto Hydro, like many other companies and agencies and governments and businesses, is in a transition period.  Over the next five years, a number of our executives will be elegible for retirement.  In fact, over the next 10 years, about a third of our over-all workforce is going to be elegible for retirement.  

     I, personally, am a strong believer in succession planning, particularly at the executive level.  And what is happening in our company is that Mr. Black, who runs our Toronto Hydro Electrical System Limited, is in the process of retiring.  And in order to accommodate a smooth transition, we've brought Mr. Haines into the company, and are gradually transitioning our services from -- our responsibilities from Mr. Black to Mr. Haines over the next year.   

     Now, it's important that we do that to ensure that there is consistency at the executive level, particularly with respect to the planning of our future capital and other business requirements, and to allow for a smooth transition to continue to provide services to the customer.  I'm a very strong believer in the ability of our company and the importance of our company to put customers first.  And I believe very strongly that, in ensuring our customers are well-served, it's incumbent upon us to ensure that we have the resources available to do so in an efficient and effective and economical manner.  

     Once this transition is complete, over the next year, you may see some functions in this organizational chart changed, and that is that some of the more -- some of what we would call “shared-service functions” may very well end up in Toronto Hydro.  That's being done, and being  contemplated because the original structure of many of the utilities in this province was -- they were set up to accommodate a very different kind of utility than we have now.  They were primarily set up to deal with a potential -- in our case, particularly, retail activities.  And other utilities also got into the retail -- the retail activity world, but Toronto Hydro was very much moving in that direction, until, of course, there was changes to the pricing strategy put in by the government of Ontario.

     So this organizational chart reflects what is, today, a transition organization, that will become a little -- different organization within the next year to year-and-a-half.  

     MR. RODGER:  So just to be clear, Mr. O'Brien, when you say that certain functions may be moved to Toronto Hydro, are you referring to the LDC? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes, I am.  Sorry.

     MR. RODGER:  And could you also talk about some other challenges and key issues that you would like to inform the Board on, that you are currently pursuing.  

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, Mr. Chairman, there are two other areas that I’d like to take a moment, if I may, to address the Board.  One of them deals with the issue of conservation and demand management, and the second deals with the issue of smart meters.  Two very important issues for the sector.  Two very important issues for Toronto Hydro, obviously, because of our leadership position within the sector.  

     When I become the President and CEO of Toronto Hydro Corporation -- one of the things that I’ve always believed, with respect to Toronto Hydro and the other utilities, is that Toronto Hydro should take a bit of a leadership role, if you want, with respect to the other utilities.  For a long time, there had not been a lot of cooperation among the utilities, particularly the large ones, and I formed a group we affectionately call the CLD - the coalition of large distributors - for the purpose of trying to help coordinate our work on policy matters and issues that were presented to the sector, so that we could coordinate those and bring together a common position.  Many times, those common positions were presented to the government, many times to this Board, many times we've been dealing with -- recently, with the Ontario Power Authority.

     One of the things that we decided that we would take advantage of, as a group -- as a CLD group, was our approach to conservation and demand management, and we collectively came together and brought before this Board a common position with respect to conservation and demand management and we have been pursuing that common position quite significantly as a group.


Just let me allude to some of the things that Toronto Hydro has been doing with respect to conservation and demand management.  I think it's the third quarter results that are posted by the Board vis-à-vis all spending on CDM in the province by utility.  Toronto Hydro is spending about 36 percent of the utility spend in this province right now, which is significantly more than our portion of the overall size within the industry.  So I'm very proud that Toronto Hydro has picked that up, picked that challenge up and run with it.  


Just give me a minute, Mr. Chairman, to highlight two or three kind of unique things that we've done with respect to conservation and demand management.  We formed a partnership with Home Depot, as many people would know, and one of the things we did was identify a number of conservation-related measures that we could participate with as a company with Home Depot and others in demonstrating how very simple measures by the public, with support from their local utility, could have meaningful results in conservation and demand management.


One example is we had an air conditioner trade-in; bring those air conditioners that sit in the window that are gluttons on electricity; bring them in and we'll give you a coupon for $25 at Home Depot.  We did that over two weekends.  We expected about 1,000 to come in.  We got 6,000. 


We did a light bulb giveaway, a two-for-one giveaway; come to Home Depot, bring your driver's licence to prove that you live in Toronto and we'll give you two free light bulbs.  Wildly exceeded our expectations.  In fact, our estimate is that that program reduced consumption in Ontario by 13 megawatts.  


We are now working with our customers in targeted areas on demand response, where we would go in and, using technology, manage their energy consumption on things like hot water heaters, pool pumps and furnaces and air conditioners.  We have had triple the response we anticipated in our plan.


In 2005, Toronto Hydro will have spent $10 million of its CDM portfolio or CDM spend, which is the third tranche.  Our third tranche is $40 million and our projected spend is 10 in '05, 20 in '06 and 10 in '07.  We will have spent our 10 million in '05, and we expect to be conserving in excess of 100 megawatts as a result of that spend.  


Our long-term commitment in CDC is to come back to this Board in due course, in future rate plans, and seek additional funding, ongoing funding, for CDM.  I personally am committed to it as the CEO of the company, and the employees of the company and our board knows that commitment and we will continue to pursue that.


We are, in addition to conservation and demand management, becoming more actively involved in the potential new generation in Toronto.  As the Board will be aware, there is a demand, an excessive demand, in Toronto itself for new generation.  And there is an equally excessive demand for new generation in the 905, particularly the western end of the 905.  


We are being -- we are actively involved in that process.  We are participating in discussions with the OPA and we are helping our shareholder deal with the issue of new generation in the port land area, where it's being projected it will go.


The reason I wanted to just raise that point quickly - and I won't dwell on it, Mr. Chairman - is that it is obvious that there will be new generation in Toronto, and I think that new generation in Toronto will be the first new generation in this city in 25 or 30 years.  Toronto's electricity supply is provided through transmission, not generation, so it will be interesting to have new generation.


Where I'm going with this is that I think it's vitally important that if new generation is built in this city, that our system, Toronto Hydro's infrastructure, is equally up to the challenge of distributing that electricity.  And you'll see in our submission that we are proposing a capital spend on our infrastructure and improvement to that infrastructure to ensure that we meet our piece of the puzzle when all is said and done.


If I could just move for a moment, Mr. Chairman, into a very brief discussion on smart meters.  As the Board would be aware, the Government of Ontario has proposed that in 2007 they would like 800,000 smart meters installed, and by 2010 they say 4 million.  It will be probably be more like 5 million at that point in time.  


In our 2006 rate application, we are proposing 160,000 smart meters.  And, Mr. Chairman, Toronto Hydro, through this CLD group that I mentioned, has taken a very active role, a very participatory role, in the evolution of the smart meter program in this province.  We still don't have the final direction with respect to the specs on the meters that we are going to be asked to install, although the Ministry did post some draft specs yesterday, I understand.  But there is still a great deal of work to be done.


We, in our submission, mirrored very much the excellent work that was done by the OEB on the issue of smart meters a year‑and‑a‑half ago.  Our company participated in that process.  It was actively involved in the discussions and continues to believe that the report that was put forward by the OEB with respect to smart meters is the right way to go.  I don't say that, Mr. Chairman, because I'm sitting before the Panel.  I've said that publicly many times in many speeches to many organizations.  


Our CLD group did prepare draft specs for the Ministry and gave them to them in the fall of last year and helped them make those kinds of decisions.  I think those draft specifications will probably be the basis by which the Ministry moves forward on smart meters.  


Our company today has 7,500 smart meters installed in a pilot project format where we are testing a number of different manufacturers in very different weather conditions and very different urban environments, lots of trees, no trees, winter where there are no leaves, summer where there are lots of leaves, cold weather, warm weather.  So we are aggressively pursuing the smart meter program and are committed to meeting our targets that have been set by the government, and this application does carry success in meeting those targets.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. O'Brien.  Thank you, Mr. Haines.  Mr. Chairman, this panel is now available for cross‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, how do you want to proceed?  Are you going first?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I believe I'm going first.  I know Mr. Shepherd is here and Mr. Dingwall also has some cross-examination.  Actually, we see more people here now.  I'm also aware that Mr. Warren is next door and I'm not sure if Mr. Adams is there, as well.  I'm not sure if they are going to be cross-examining this panel.  Perhaps on the break, I will check and see if they intend to do so, but I'll start.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. O'Brien, Mr. Haines.  My name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  I don't know that I've met either of you personally before.


We received an e‑mail from your counsel, Mr. Rodger, last night indicating the areas on which you would be able to assist us on cross‑examination.  I prepared a somewhat longer cross‑examination, so I think if we get into areas where you simply don't know the answer, just let me know, and I assume it will be for panel 2 or panel 3, but I'm going to give some of these questions a go, in any event, to see if you can help me with any of this.  And many of my questions are actually by way of clarification, so you may just have to hold my hand and guide me through some of this.


I guess I'll start with some general questions about the application itself.  Of course, the decision was made to make a future test year filing.  I assume you gentlemen were involved in that decision, or am I wrong?


MR. HAINES:  Yes, we were.


MR. MILLAR:  As I read your application, I see that there are two main areas where you -- I guess you couldn't live with a historic test year application, and I think those were depreciation and pensions; is that right?


MR. HAINES:  Those are the largest differences between '04 costs and '06 costs.


MR. MILLAR:  Could you tell me a little bit more about those, as to why you wanted to go with a future test year filing on those two items?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.  We heard a lot of evidence on this yesterday, so as not to repeat all of that, it starts with the premise, though, that future test year is a better methodology.  And I'm not sure that even if both had resulted in the same conclusion we wouldn't have gone with future, anyway.  Setting '06 rates on '06 costs is fundamentally a better approach.

One thing I wanted to clarify was that there was, you know, a bit of a sense yesterday that we only used adjustments for '06 on these two line items.  In fact, the application is our ‘06 costs.  The fact that some costs have been held at ‘04 levels attests to the management of costs and driving efficiency in the organization.  But these two areas were particularly problematic for us in an ability to absorb, if you will, what we knew to be costs that were, you know -- either had been committed to or we expected to have to bear.

     So there are two of them - the compensation and the amortization costs - were really the two differences when we lined the costs in ‘04 -- sort of normalized ‘04, if you will, with '06.  So when we talk about those, they’re about -- as I recall, they’re about equal in their impact .

     The compensation:  we have a collective agreement that was in place, and it was simply applying the collective agreement, and that would result in a cost increase.  I seem to recall in the 3-percent range a year.  And then the management component of the, you know, increase: and we can talk about the compensation model a little later on.

     In terms of the amortization, it was -- really reflected costs that had -- capital that had already been invested.  You know, with the methodology, you know, from that last half of ‘04, if you will, and all of ‘05 spent, would have put us in a position that capital had been spent, and there was no opportunity to recover the amortization associated with that.  So it wasn't simply a question of, Gee, we won't spend the money, until we have approval.  The money had largely been spent, and very importantly I might add, in the areas of reliabilty as well as the starting of our control-room consolidation.  So we didn’t see that it was something that could be deferred.  

     So the impact of both of these matters, when we looked at the totality of those costs and, again, our drive to find efficiency, there was no way we could absorb those and bring in the rate of return on equity that was -- you know, that was acceptable.  And so, you know, very quickly - and again, as we heard yesterday - we abandoned the approach on moving to a future test year -- or, pardon me, abandoned the approach of an historical test year and moved to a future test year methodology. 

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay, so those were the two main drivers.  But you indicated there were some other elements, as well.  Do you care to describe some of those?   

     MR. HAINES:  Well, what I was saying was that all of the '06 costs are '06 costs.  They’re not ‘04 costs, and we haven't cherry-picked, you know, where -- you know, taken ‘04 costs where we like them.  Everything in the application is an '06 cost.  It’s just -- what I'm saying is that, in most cases, those costs are, in fact, at about ‘04 levels. --

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

     MR. HAINES:  -- but these two items are really the lion’s share of the difference. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So, absent these two items, I understand you probably would have filed an historical test year?

     MR. HAINES:   No.  That’s what I was trying to say at the beginning.  It's a better methodology -- 

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay.

     MR. HAINES: -- you know, it’s a better methodology, and I think that's one that, you know, we, as a company, should be on.  And, you know, we're beginning the process of being cost-of-service regulated.  And so, you know, for us to get on a right methodology from the get-go, I think, is a better strategy. 

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay.  So, irrespective of any of the numbers -- 

     MR. HAINES:   Yes, it’s a little bit of hindsight, maybe, you know.  But certainly, you know, my experience is that a future test year is a better methodology.

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay.  And I don't -- maybe you can help me.   I don’t know how familiar you gentlemen are with the Rate Handbook.  Have you both reviewed it, or are you familiar with it? 

     MR. HAINES:  I would say peripherally.  Did I read, I think, a hundred pages of it, or something?   No.  I certainly looked at some sections.  I -- we were both involved with, you know, the input from the industry, you know, and the development of the Handbook, you know.  Although I was not with Toronto Hydro at the time.  I was in Ottawa, you know.  I was participating from that perspective.  But we've both been involved with the, you know, development of key principles.  I don't want to speak for Mr. O'Brien, but I can't tell you that I've read the hundred pages -- 

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay, well, I'll ask this question.  If you don’t know the answer, that’s fine.  As you may be aware, for those LDCs filing a historical test year filing, the provisions for non-routine or unusual tier 1 adjustments -- are you familiar with that?  

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And to the extent that you can answer this question - and maybe you can't, because, if I hear you correctly, you never really intended to file on an historical test year basis - but, looking back, if you were to do so, can you give me an idea of any non-routine or unusual tier 1 adjustments that you would have sought? 

     MR. HAINES:  Well these two matters, if they were -- it that mechanism was available, I suppose we would have, again, had a -- you know, perhaps had a little harder look -- 

     MR. MILLAR:   Right. 

     MR. HAINES:  -- at going down the historical test year, but I'm not sure it would have changed our mind.  

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay.  I'm going to move onto an issue that you discussed in your examination in-chief.  Maybe I could have everyone turn up tab 2, schedule 2.2.  That’s the corporate organization chart that you provided with your pre-filed evidence.  And just so you have it handy, I'll also be looking at the other org chart that you referred to:   I think it’s section E, tab 2, schedule 7, page 3 of 8. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar?

     MR. MILLAR:   Yes?

     MR. KAISER:  I'm going to ask you -- this will apply to other counsel, as well.  Pawing through these books is a real pain.  If you are going to put a document to the witness, could you come with copies of it, and we'll circulate it when you put the question to the witness.  It just makes it easier for everyone in the room to follow.  I know it's a little extra work on your part, but makes it easier for the witness, and it makes it easier for the Panel. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Obviously, I haven't done that for this panel.  

     MR. RODGER:  If it would be helpful, Mr. Millar, we -- this particular org chart you referred to -- it’s one of the ones that’s updated, and I did bring extra copies, just in case this situation arose.  So I'm happy to circulate -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you Mr. Rodger.  

     MR. RODGER:  It’s easier.

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Mr. Chairman, the intervenors probably do not have the resources to -- on the very short schedule time-frames in this hearing, to bring compendiums of the documents we are referring to.  We have difficulty just preparing the cross, when we have very short lead time to know what we're supposed to be cross-examining on.  So -- we can do our best, obviously -- in fact, I have some stuff I'm bringing today -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Well if it’s a question, Mr. Shepherd, of making the copies, the Board will make the copies.  Just -- you or one of your associates just provide, before the hearing starts, a copy of the documents you intend to refer to in your examination, and we’ll make the copies.

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Yes.  It’s difficult for us to do that, Mr. Chairman, because, until we hear the evidence of the witness Panel, we don't even know what they’re talking about. 

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I know, but in some cases you'll have some idea before you arrive as to what questions you are going to ask. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We can certainly do our best, yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  And where you do just provide us -- it’s standard procedure.  

     Sorry, I interrupted you, Mr. Millar.  

     MR. MILLAR:   No.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

     First, just let me ask a couple of background questions, to make sure I have everything clear.  Are you gentleman both employees of THC or of THESL, or of either, or both? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  THC. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And on the org chart that you -- this is at, again, section E, tab 2, schedule 7 - it’s the one you were referring to earlier, it’s headed at the top “Toronto Hydro Group of Companies” -- 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes, this is the one I referred to in my -- 

     MR. MILLAR: Yes.  I think this should circulate -- it’s in Mr. Rodger’s -- it’s the third page, Mr. Chairman -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, I have it.

     MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me what -- is the Toronto Hydro Group of Companies -- is that a corporation? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And you’re the President and CEO.  And that’s something separate than THC? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  No, same.  THC, Toronto Hydro Corporation.

     MR. MILLAR:   Oh, I see.  So the Toronto Hydro Group of Companies is THC.   We’re talking about the same entity? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  No.  Toronto Hydro Corporation is the holding company -- 

     MR. MILLAR: Okay.

     MR. O’BRIEN:  -- and there a number of companies that it holds as a separate structure -- I’, sorry, I should be speaking into the mike.  I apologize.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Some of this may spring from my ignorance of corporate law, so please bear with me.  So what is your position with THC? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  I am the President and Chief Executive Officer of Toronto Hydro Corporation.     

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay.  And you are also the President of Toronto Hydro Group of Companies? 

     MR. O'BRIEN: “Toronto Hydro Group of Companies” simply describes the companies. 

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay, so it's not, in itself --

     MR. O’BRIEN:   It’s not --

     MR. MILLAR:  -- it’s not a corporate entity.


     MR. O’BRIEN:  It’s not an entity by itself, no. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I just wanted to make sure that was clear. 

     And, if we look -- again, I don't think this document was provided separately by Mr. Rodger, Mr. Chair, but in the pre-filed submissions, you provided us with a corporate organization chart:  this is at tab 2, schedule 2.2, at page 1 of 4?

     MR. O’BRIEN:   Could you give us the reference again?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I’m sorry.  This is in the application in the pre-filed evidence, tab 2 schedule 2.2, page 1 of 4. 

     MR. HAINES:  Tab 2, section 2.2 -- yes, yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Do you have that? 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  I wanted to confirm what I see here.  Can you confirm -- we see five companies at the bottom, including THESL.  Can you confirm for me that these are all 100 percent owned by Toronto Hydro Corporation?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And, therefore, all of the companies we see here are affiliates, of course, affiliates of one another?


MR. O'BRIEN:  There's one that's not active.


MR. MILLAR:  Which one is that?


MR. O'BRIEN:  The very first one.


MR. MILLAR:  The numbered company?


MR. O'BRIEN:  1455948.


MR. HAINES:  Maybe I could just elaborate.  We have an investment in a company called Screaming Power, one‑third.  The shares that we hold in that is the legal entity, which we own 100 percent of, that holds those shares.


MR. MILLAR:  So that company is not active, but it is 100 percent owned by THC, as are the rest of these.  So just to follow up my question, they are all affiliates?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes, they are.     


MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me who is the shareholder for THC?  Is it the city?


MR. O'BRIEN:  The City of Toronto owns 100 percent of the shares of THC.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, forgive me if you've already answered this, but neither of you gentleman are employed by THESL; is that right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And the CEO of THESL is a Mr. Black?


MR. O'BRIEN:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Is there a reason he wasn't invited today to speak on the policy panel?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, the reason that Mr. Haines and I are here is because we are the direct employees of Toronto Hydro Corporation, and our purpose today was to give a very high-level overview of our company, our company in relation to the industry and the sector, in relation to the application.  Mr. Black I believe is on panel 3.  He will appear as part of panel 3.


MR. MILLAR:  I wasn't sure if that was still the case.  In response to VECC Interrogatory No. 7, the company originally filed a series of additional organizational charts, and you'll find those -- again, Mr. Chair, I don't think these are provided in the documents Mr. Rodger distributed.  They start at section E, tab 2, schedule 7, starting at page 6.  Schedule 7, page 6, and I think they run for the next three or four pages.  


Actually, I'm sorry, it starts a little bit before that.


MR. O'BRIEN:  It starts at page 3, I believe. 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, you're right.  It starts at page 3.  That is where you provide individual org charts, I guess, for these affiliates of THESL and THESL itself.  


Now, on Saturday you provided us with the document we looked at before entitled "Toronto Hydro Group of Companies".  Was that intended to replace these documents, or is it just an additional org chart?


MR. O'BRIEN:  The one that we provided and that I spoke about today is the org structure of the company.  The one that as part of the VECC material, this is basically the directors of the various companies.  So, as an example, on page 3 where we have the Toronto Hydro Corporation, if you look over on page ‑‑ if I could just refer you quickly to page 8, you'll see at the bottom of that page the officers.  That would reflect back to that original org chart.  


The reason that we thought it would be appropriate to provide the one today is because it more truly reflects the reporting relationship in the organizational structure.  I think that's more relevant than the other stuff.


MR. MILLAR:  But these org charts still stand.  They haven't changed?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No they would still stand.


MR. MILLAR:  And you are not intending to withdraw those from the application?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Did we withdraw those, Mr. Rodger?  I'm not sure.  I shouldn't say, yes, they stand, until I check but...


MR. RODGER:  I think it would be fair to say that they were intended to replace.  I think part of this is what Mr. O'Brien went through as a whole transaction in nature.  We thought more should be given on that to explain how the most -- latest information of the evolution of the corporation.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, but these charts are not inaccurate; is that right?  They are still -- the same people are still performing the same functions in those entities?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes, except we've had a few more recent changes.  On page 3, Connie Woo, vice president and CIO, has retired.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. O'BRIEN:  I think those are the only changes recently.  You'll find that again on page 7; she's retired.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But otherwise these are up to date and accurate?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  You said you -- again, the Toronto Hydro group of companies org chart that was filed on Saturday, is there a reason it wasn't filed originally in response to the VECC IR or with the pre‑filed evidence?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't know why it wasn't filed.  Probably the interpretation of what was requested in relation to what we actually filed.  I believe the one that we filed on the weekend more accurately, in my mind, reflects how our company is structured than the officers and directors section that was filed previously.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you'll bear with me, I just want to look at some of the previously filed org charts, and if I'm off base or if something has changed, feel free to let me know.  


I want to look particularly at the org charts for THC and for THESL, and that's page 3 of 12 and page 4 of 12.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And I just want you to confirm for me, and if things have changed, please let me know.  I notice that Mr. Black is the executive vice president of THC.  Is that still correct?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And he is also the president and CEO of THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  There's a Mr. Wilde, a Lawrence Wilde.  He is vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary of THC?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  He's also the vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary of THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And Mr. Zebrowski is currently the vice president of regulatory services for THC, and he's also the vice president of regulatory services for THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And there is a Mr. Couillard?  Am I pronouncing that correctly? 


MR. O'BRIEN:  Couillard.


MR. MILLAR:  He's the CFO for THC, and he's also the CFO for THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Finally, there is a Mr. Sardana, who is the vice president and treasurer of THC, and he holds that same position for THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  All that is still accurate?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Let's take just one of them as an example, Mr. Zebrowski, perhaps.  And I think he's an officer in some of the other affiliated companies, as well.  For example, the Toronto Hydro Energy Services Inc., I see that he is vice president of regulatory services there?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I think he's the energy ‑‑ yes, he's involved with the energy services company.


MR. MILLAR:  So who is Mr. Zebrowski's employer?  Is he employed by all of these organizations, or who?


MR. O'BRIEN:  He's employed by Toronto Hydro Corporation.


MR. MILLAR:  So that is who pays his salary?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And he's an officer on either company?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And is that true of the other gentlemen, as well?  Are they all employees of THC?


MR. O’BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And their salaries are paid by THC?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, I want to turn to an interrogatory from Energy Probe.  It's Energy Probe No. 17.  I'm looking on, I guess, the full evidentiary record, section E, tab 3, schedule 17, page 2 of 2.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Page 2 of 2?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry, page 2 of 2.  In your response -- I'll read the question from page 1.  It says:

"Please identify job functions at THESL at the level of vice president and above that are performed by employees of Toronto Hydro Corporation."


And the response is:

"Employees of THC do not perform the job functions at THESL at the level of vice president and above."


If we look at the org charts that we've just gone through, it seems to me that some of them appear to perform those functions.  Can you add some clarity to that response?


MR. O'BRIEN:  They are the officers of those organizations.


MR. MILLAR:  If we look, for example, at Mr. Zebrowski - and I'm just pulling up his title again for THESL - he's listed as a vice president and in your interrogatory response, it indicated that employees of THC do not serve at the level of vice president, and above? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  These individuals, and others in our company, are involved in the shared services of responsibilities across the entire Toronto Hydro Group of Companies, if you want.  So you'll find them providing some of those services, on a shared-service basis. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  It still seems to me we may have a disconnect in the answer.  Does this answer to the Energy Probe interrogatory still hold?   I'll read it again.  It says: 

          “Employees of THC do not perform job functions at

THESL at the level of vice-president and above.”  

     MR. O'BRIEN:  I would say it still stands.  But we're dealing here, really, with job functions per se.  And the responsibilities that they have, in a shared service, across the entire corporation. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So does Mr. Zebrowski's title, for example not match his function?   Is that --

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Oh no, it does.  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay.  I guess I'm still having a little bit of -- I'm not sure I'm following you.  Is -- Mr. Zebrowski is the vice-president.  Is that vice-presidents for THESL? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Vice-president of regulatory services --

     MR. MILLAR:   Right.

     MR. O’BRIEN:  -- for THC and THESL, and provides that advice and expertise to THESL and other parts of the company, as required. 

     MR. MILLAR:  But he is on the org chart -- 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  But he is on org chart.  He is the vice-president, yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, great.  I’ll just leave it at that.

     MR. O’BRIEN:  He's just not directly employed by THESL. 

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay.  And I just wanted to follow up on -- you discussed that Mr. Black is in semi- -- or, he’s in the process of retiring. 

     MR. O’BRIEN: Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  It takes a little while when you’re that high up on the org chart.  And did I understand you to say that Mr. Haines is going to be replacing him? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  So --  

     MR. O’BRIEN:  -- there’ll be a distribution of the some of the responsibilities, yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So will -- in a year’s time, for example, will we see Mr. Haines’ name where we see Mr. Black's name? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Not necessarily.  I'm still thinking through how the changes will actually be made.  But I think the point I wanted to make is that Mr. Black is in transition out, and Mr. Haines is in transition in, and at some point in time I'm going to have to decide how we want to distribute those functions.  But Mr. Haines will assume a very important role, more than he has right now in the organization, after Mr. Black leaves. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And will -- Mr. Haines will still be employed by THC, though? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Just as Mr. Black is now. 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay, thank you.

     I have some questions about the service-level agreements.  And I know I didn't see those on your areas of expertise coming into this cross-examination.  Can you answer some questions on those? 

     MR. HAINES:  I'll take a stab at them, although we intend to have our Panel 2 go into the more mechanical issues.  

     MR. O'BRIEN:  I could try. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I’ll just run through my list, and if you can't answer, let me know.

     Just so we have the reference again -- I'm sorry, Mr. Chair, we don't have these prepared separately.  The service-level agreements - I think they were filed as an interrogatory response - they start at section E, tab 2, schedule A.  I think you'll find that's actually an interrogatory, but at the response to that interrogatory you'll find the service-level agreements.  I think there are 10 of them, and they run for probably 150 -- well, a lot of pages.  They are numbered attachment 1 through 10, the SLAs, themselves.

     Can you confirm for me, none of these SLAs were filed as part of the pre-filed evidence, is that right? 

     MR. HAINES:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR: And you filed 10 SLAs in response to VECC No. 8  -- VECC Interrogatory No. 8? 

     MR. HAINES:  I haven't counted them, but our response -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  I see 10 there.  So, subject to correct, 10 SLAs?  And these are all service-level agreements that relate to THESL’s dealings with THC or its other affiliates?

     MR. HAINES:   Yeah, these are the services that are received by THESL or those services that THESL provides to others. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And is it just THC or does it include the other corporations? 

     MR. HAINES:  It is both in and out of the utilities. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Did you provide us with all of the service-level agreements which would involve THESL either receiving services or providing services to its affiliates?  Are there other SLAs? 

     MR. HAINES:  I believe we did -- 

     MR. MILLAR:   I’m not aware of any.

     MR. HAINES: --  I haven't done the cross-checking, but I believe that was the question that we attempted to answer in this interrogatory. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So, as far as you’re aware there are no -- 

     MR. HAINES:   Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR: --  other ones that we don't have here.  Now if we look -- the service-level agreements, they appear to come in pairs.  There’s five pairs, that give us 10, total, agreements.

     And it appears that the first part is an agreement, and the second part is an amending agreement.  And there was just a little confusion in my mind, and in the Staff's mind, when we looked through them.  It seems that, in every case, the amending agreement is actually dated a month prior to the agreement, itself.  And maybe you can help me out here.  I assume the amending agreement is actually amending a different agreement?  Or -- I’ll let you explain.  

     MR. HAINES:  I believe -- I'll to have put my hands on it, but I believe we have ‘04 and ‘05 here --

     MR. MILLAR:   Yes.

     MR. HAINES:  -- and so one would be an ‘04 agreement.  One would be what I would consider to be a preliminary ‘05.  Because we do have a true-up mechanism, and so, you know, there's a cost estimated for that service for ‘05 from a preliminary or budgeting perspective.  And then, if those costs are different, there’s a true-up mechanism, at the end.  So they may be subject to change into the final agreement once, you know, that year is closed. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And just so I'm clear, the amending agreement:   that’s the agreement that amends the previous -- 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, that would be the ‘04. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And we don’t have the ‘04.  You provided the 2005.   

     MR. HAINES:  I think -- I'll just check.  For example, just turn to -- attachment 10 is where my finger went to.  That is an agreement between THC and THESL, and that is for the ‘04 period. 

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay, well that’s helpful.  I actually wanted to look at service-level agreements numbered 9 and 10, chiefly.  Because, as I understand, those are the one that are services provided by THC to THESL.  Can you confirm that?   

     MR. HAINES:  Let me get my finger to that spot.  That's right. 

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay.  And as I look at the structure of these agreements, one through 10, largely the same.  The first number of pages - I don’t know, five or 10 pages - is sort of the boilerplate, interpreting the contract and whatnot.  And then, following that, are schedules, and in the schedules are set out exactly what the services to be provided are.  Can you confirm that? 

     MR. HAINES:  I think that, generically, would be true for all of the contracts that are here. 

.    MR. MILLAR:  And just -- on SLA 10 there was a little confusion in my mind.  It seems to be set out -- the information provided is a little by different than the other SLAs.  It starts off with a 13-page segment and then, at the end of the 13th page, it starts again at page 1 and goes to 13 again.  

     MR. HAINES:   It looks like one is ‘05 and one is ‘03.   But we can certainly get a clearer answer for you.

     MR. MILLAR:   Yes, maybe if you could -- I don't know if we need an undertaking here. 

     MR. HAINES:  I might suggest we re-direct that to the next Panel. 

     MR. MILLAR:  The next panel would be able to answer that?   Okay.  That's fine.  That's what I assumed, as well, but it wasn't 100 percent clear.

     In any event, one of these should be for the 2005 year:  is that your understanding? 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:   Okay.  Maybe I'll ask you to turn up -- again, this is in the pre-filed evidence.  You'll want to keep these SLAs open, as well.  But tab 6, and it’s schedule 6-8.  

     MS. SPOEL:   Mr. Millar, tab 6 of what?   

     MR. MILLAR:  Of the pre-filed evidence.  Should be in the first binder. 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, I have it.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Just wait a moment, for the Panel to pull it up.  I'm looking at -- there’s a blue sheet, which is the updated sheet.  I guess there was a previous sheet, but I'm looking at the blue one.  Schedule 6‑8, page 1 of 2.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Does the Panel have the evidence reference?   It's possible that it didn't make it into --


MS. SPOEL:  No.  Sorry, can you give us the entire ‑‑ tab 6 -- I'm up to tab 6.  I'm not sure where to go now.


MR. MILLAR:  There should be a schedule 6-8.


MS. SPOEL:  Yes, there is a blue sheet.


MR. MILLAR:  It's the blue sheet, that's right, page 1 of two.  I'm sorry for the confusion.  If we look at that chart on the top line, again entitled "Distribution Expenses Paid to Affiliates, Revised", if we look at the 2005 estimated value, we get a figure of $50,635,713, and that's the estimated cost of the services provided by THC to THESL?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, if we actually go through the agreement - and I won't make you do the math - would you agree with me that the numbers should match there; the total number from the schedule should match the number that we see here?


MR. HAINES:  When we get into the matching, I'm probably going to suggest we move to the next panel.  Let me try to generically answer the question.  In some of the cases, for example, the vehicle expenses, they are done on a per vehicle -- you know, largely a rate, and so you won't necessarily be able to tie it directly across, because in the agreement it says $5.00 here, and we don't have an estimated unit number.  So in some cases, it's more problematic to tie it directly across.


These would be the results, you know, when you take -- do the math on how many units of vehicles, et cetera.  We can certainly get more detail in the next panel about that exact breakdown of that 50 million.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  Your understanding would be, then, it wouldn't be as simple as just adding up the numbers from the --you wouldn't be able to arrive at that number?


MR. HAINES:  No, in the area of the vehicles, that's where the --


MR. MILLAR:  The numbers, would you say they would be close but not exact?


MR. HAINES:  They were an estimate at the time the contract was put in place and, as I say, there was true-up then on the actual amount of units used.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, maybe I'll pursue this further with the next panel.  But, again, looking at the next block to the left is 2006 estimated value.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  The SLAs we have in the IR response don't reflect 2006, do they?  The latest ones are from 2005?


MR. HAINES:  I believe the methodology - again, probably best left to the next one - was taking the '05, and then adding an inflater to it, but, again, we'll leave that to the next panel to go through the details of that.


MR. MILLAR:  But there is no separate SLAs --


MR. HAINES:  No.  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  But you would anticipate there will be at some time.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I'll move on, because I think we've probably reached the level of your knowledge on these.


I apologize if I'm skipping around here a little bit.  I understand that you are not able to help with all of these.


MR. HAINES:  We'll help where we can.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm looking now at another interrogatory response.  This is Energy Probe No. 10.  It relates to a signing policy.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  The complete reference, for the record, is section E, tab 3, schedule 10, a two‑page document.  There are also some attachments.  Appendix A is actually the policy itself.  As I understand, what you provided here is a document called the "signing policy", and that's THC's signing policy; is that correct?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Is there a similar policy or a similar document for THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't believe so.


MR. MILLAR:  Would this document apply to THESL, or do they simply not have an independent --


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes, it would apply.


MR. MILLAR:  So this THC document also applies to THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I just wanted to clear that up.  Thank you.  Okay, again, I'm skipping around a little bit.  I wanted to move to some questions on rate base, and, again, where you can't help me, just please feel free to say so.


How familiar are you gentlemen with your capital investments program?  I know that panel 2 is probably going to answer the bulk of these questions, but are you generally familiar?


MR. O'BRIEN:  They will, but I'll ask Mr. Haines to comment on that more.


MR. HAINES:  I think it will be panel 3 that will principally handle the questions around the distribution capital investments and IT investments, et cetera, but we can certainly ‑‑ we're involved with the budgeting process and whatnot.  We can talk about some of the major initiatives.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, again, I'll give it a go and we'll see how far we can get.  For the Panel's ease of reference, the section in the pre‑filed evidence dealing with rate base is section 4.  There are a number of tabs there, so I'll be referring to a few of them, but if you want to have tab 4 generally ready.


Do you need a moment?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No. 


MR. MILLAR:  Would you both agree with me that there is a large increase in capital spending for the 2006 year?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Is there ‑‑ are you doing your capital spending on sort of a year-by-year basis, or do you have a long-term plan for capital spending?


MR. HAINES:  We don't currently have a definitive long-term strategy plan, per se, a comprehensive plan, but we are -- right now we are doing -- this application is done on a year-by-year basis.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you working on a long term ‑‑


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Might that be ready for the next rates case, for example?


MR. HAINES:  I'm expecting, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So help me out.  This year's capital budget, it's not done in a vacuum, I assume.  Is it done with regard to what you think your long-term objectives are?


MR. HAINES:  Absolutely.  It's the same plant.  We see the same issues going on.  It just so happens that we have done it this year on an '06 basis as opposed to a multiple-year basis, but it's consistent.  If we have an aging plant, the underground, for example, past its useful life, this application is consistent with that.  The longer-term plan will demonstrate a long-term strategy around that.


MR. MILLAR:  But you are not able to provide us with a long-term plan?


MR. HAINES:  We don't have a long-term plan at this point.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you could turn to tab 4, paragraphs 23 to 25, and those are on page 6 and 7 of 17 in tab 4.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  You describe here a position called asset manager.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Is the asset manager an employer of THESL or THC?


MR. HAINES:  THESL.


MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me who the asset manager is?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Joe Bailey.


MR. HAINES:  Joe Bailey, and he'll be appearing on panel 3.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so that's the same person.  I think what I'll do, since he's appearing in person, I think I'll save these questions for him.  These are digging down a little deep and I imagine he can probably help me more.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Much better than we can.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  I'm going to move on to chapter 5 of your application, which is cost of capital.  In particular, there is a schedule; I think it's schedule 5.1.  It's a schedule called "Weighted Debt Cost".


MR. HAINES:  Yes.  Can I go back?  Can you just give me the reference?  It's schedule 5 of 1, 1 of 2?


MR. MILLAR:  Tab 5, schedule 5.1, page 1 of 1. 


MR. O'BRIEN:  Weighted debt cost?


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  I see here you have two debt instruments, a long-term promissory note due 2013, and a long-term debenture due 2013? 


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Are those the only long-term debt instruments the company holds?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And they're both with the parent company THC.


MR. HAINES:  No, THC pardon me.  That's correct, between THESL and THC.


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  THC lent the money to THESL.  I wanted to make sure I had that correct.  I don't see any short-term debt here.  Does the company hold any short-term debt?


MR. HAINES:  Not currently.


MR. MILLAR:  When I look at the first item, the long-term promissory notes, again, the debt holder is the parent company, THC, and it's a fairly substantial promissory note, close to $1 billion and it's 10-year term.  I see that the interest rate is 6.8 percent?


MR. O'BRIEN:  That's the deemed interest rate that was established by the Board.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that the actual interest rate?


MR. O'BRIEN:  That's the actual interest rate we're paying.  That is the deemed debt held by the City of Toronto to which there was a rate set by the Board five ‑‑ three years ago.  I think the debt was issued in 2003.  Having not monetized the debt of the company, there's a deemed debt, and the City of Toronto benefits from the interest paid, and that interest is deemed to be 6.8 percent.  We actually pay it.


MR. MILLAR:  So you are actually paying 6.8?


MR. O'BRIEN:  On an annual basis, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me if you were to seek out a long-term promissory note, a 6.8 percent interest rate would seem a little high?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I would suggest it would be a bit high today, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you think it would be high for May 7th, 2003?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't know.  I don't know what the rate was at that point in time, but I do know the rate today is lower than 6.8 percent.


MR. MILLAR:  Did THESL seek ‑‑ did you, for example, go to the banks or anything like that to see if you could get a better interest rate, or did you only go to THC?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I can't answer that question.  I may have to defer that to the next panel, unless Mr. Haines can answer it.


MR. HAINES:  We have our treasurer coming up on the next panel, so he can probably go through in more detail our involvement with the markets.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Neither Mr. Haines or I were with the company when that debt was put on.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, then I doubt you can help me with that.  Thank you.


Staying with cost of capital, still in tab 5, paragraph 7, which I think is at page 2 -- and I'll just read it out.  It says:

"With respect to the actual capital structure, subject to obtaining approval from its board of directors, THESL intends to make a cash dividend payment to its parent company, THC, in the third quarter of 2005 to re-balance the company's actual capital structure back to its deemed capital structure of 65 percent debt and 35 percent equity."


Can you confirm for me if that payment is actually ‑‑ that cash dividend payment has actually taken place?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes, it has.


MR. MILLAR:  So we are at an actual 65/35 split?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.  Very close to it.


MR. MILLAR:  If we look at the next page, page 3 of 6, again we're talking about debt rate here.  Would you prefer I leave that question for the next panel?


MR. HAINES:  Yeah, I think probably that's better.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Have you -- I assume obviously you've read the application before.  Under debt rate, we have paragraphs 11 through 13, and to the extent you're familiar with them, do you adopt this evidence?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I'll ask other questions of the appropriate panel.


Mr. Chair, I'm not sure when you wish to take the morning break.


MR. KAISER:  Would this be a convenient time?


MR. MILLAR:  I'm between chapters.  I can keep going if you like.  We've been going an hour.  Maybe the witnesses would like a break.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we take the morning break, 20 minutes?


MR. MILLAR:  How long?


MR. KAISER:  Twenty minutes. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:15 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Be seated.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, there are a number of preliminary matters.  I have one and Mr. Rodger has one.  I think Mr. Shepherd has one, as well.  I'll quickly go first.  It's my understanding that we are not sitting tomorrow, which is Wednesday, but I'm not sure that that is officially on the record.  So am I able to confirm that we are not sitting tomorrow?


MR. KAISER:  Well, I was going address this with the parties.  We are available tomorrow morning.  It's really a question of convenience to the parties as opposed to the Board.


I'm sure Mr. Rodger would like to get this case in this week, if he can.  I know we would, because we start with Ottawa next week.  So I don't have any idea at this point how long or how quickly things are proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, I can tell you two things.  First of all, it would be very difficult for us to be ready for tomorrow morning for a panel 2.  So if panel 1 is finished today, that would be a problem I think for us and maybe for other intervenors.


The panel 2 has a lot of meat to it, as you know, and there's a lot of material to get through to prepare for it.


The second thing is Toronto District School Board has filed evidence, and our witness is not available Wednesday, Thursday and Friday because he is out of town, and I guess the third point is, it is my understanding that - and I participated in this - Ottawa is completely settled, except for one small issue, and it may be that Ottawa will only be a day.  Perhaps my colleagues can comment on that.  


So it would appear to me that, firstly, finishing this week may be a major challenge, and, secondly, that there may be time next week to complete it.  That of course is subject to the Board's schedule, naturally.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger, any comments?


MR. RODGER:  Well, we would like to proceed as quickly as we can, but we understand that intervenors also have pressures and that this has been a difficult schedule, so if it would assist Mr. Shepherd, in particular, we would be happy to pass on tomorrow and start up again on Thursday morning, if that would assist.


MR. KAISER:  So on Thursday morning we would start with panel 2; is that the plan?


MR. RODGER:  Assuming we get through this panel today sir, yes.  And that panel 2 is the finance and rates panel.


MR. KAISER:  Right.  And am I reading this right - I just saw this now - we have three panels?


MR. MILLAR:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Operations panel.  How much more do you have, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  I anticipate I probably -- depending on the answers I get, I'm anticipating I will only be about 15 more minutes.


MR. KAISER:  Well, let's do that, then.  We won't sit tomorrow, but I would like to get finished with this panel today.  I'm sure Mr. O'Brien has other things he would like to attend to.  Is that possible, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It will depend a lot on how deeply we can get into the issues with these witnesses.  I would guess I have two hours.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  And I think it's clear from Mr. Millar's questioning that when we get to areas where we have a subsequent panel coming, I think it's best to defer it to them as opposed to ‑‑ I mean, this is a policy panel after all.  We don't need to get into operational matters in detail or finance and rates matters in detail.  So let's proceed on that basis, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I think there are two further preliminary matters, Mr. Chair.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, I just want to speak to one matter.  There was an exchange during Mr. Millar's cross‑examination where he asked the witnesses about the service level agreements between the LDC and its affiliates, and there was a question asked whether this was all the agreements that Toronto Hydro had with its affiliates.  


During the break, one of the Toronto Hydro staff members approached me and thought that there may be another agreement that was executed after the interrogatories were filed November 23rd.  So I've asked for a copy of that to look at it over the lunch break.  I'm told that it's basically the same as the others, or similar, but I just wanted to correct that.  I'll check at the lunch break, and then report back.


MR. KAISER:  I appreciate that.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd had a matter, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman, I have two exhibits to file that I'll be using in my cross‑examination.  The first is the Toronto Hydro Corporation annual report 2004.  This is referred to in an interrogatory response by ‑‑ Toronto Hydro was asked for this in interrogatory response, and they said go to SEDAR and get it.  So we've done that and we've provided copies to my friends and to the panel.


MR. KAISER:  Where did they tell you to go and get it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  SEDAR.


MR. KAISER:  Because they didn't have copies, or what?


MR. SHEPHERD:  They didn't want to provide a copy, I guess.  So that's the first one, and I wonder perhaps we should get an exhibit number for that.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be Exhibit No. L1.2, Mr. Chair.

EXHIBIT NO. L1.2:  TORONTO HYDRO CORPORATION ANNUAL REPORT 2004.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the second one, which we'll also be referring to in this cross‑examination, is entitled "Schedule 6‑4 Employee Compensation Hydro Ottawa Limited".  It's tab B, page 72 of their 2006 EDR filing, so it's on the public record in this Board, but not in this proceeding.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be L1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. L1.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "SCHEDULE 6‑4 EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED".

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, finally, Mr. Chairman, we've also provided, as per your comments earlier, a copy of -- I think this is E2, schedule 26 in this proceeding, which we'll be referring to.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I don't think we need to mark that as an exhibit, because it's already in the pre‑filed evidence.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  These documents, Mr. Millar, that we're using that are already in evidence, but we're using just to assist the cross‑examination, assist the witnesses, we'll give them an I number for identification, just so if we have to go back to them, we'll know what we're talking about.


MR. MILLAR:  Would it be easier if I just give them a regular number, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  You can do that.  Whatever makes you -- I do want a number on them, because it's helpful when you're writing argument to be able to find these exhibits the testimony refers to.  And other counsel may want to refer to the same document.


MR. MILLAR:  I think that's sensible, Mr. Chair.  Why don't we call this document L1.4 for ease of reference.  And I haven't marked it before I brought it up to you, but perhaps you could mark it yourselves up there.

EXHIBIT L1.4:  THESL EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION CHART (TAB 2, SCHEDULE 26, ATTACHMENT 1)

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Please proceed.


MR. MILLAR:  I think that's the end of the preliminary matters.  As I say, I used the break to take out some of the questions I had, because I think they are probably not right for this panel.


FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:


But just to tidy up an issue from chapter 5, you're certainly aware of the motion that was held yesterday and the Board's finding in that motion, and you're certainly aware that ROE was one of the issues before that motion.  I assume it's your position that the ROE for Toronto, for THESL, in the 2006 rate year should be 9 percent?


MR. HAINES:  Yes, this is one of the areas where we have relied on the handbook.  I would like to expand upon that somewhat, though.  One of the things I wanted to clarify is that in determining the 9 percent, that it was in fact an '06 forecast that was used in determining that, and I wasn't sure if that was clear enough yesterday in our testimony.  The question is whether this mechanistic adjustment is necessary or not.  


The second issue that raised about that is in fact the consultant who helped to develop that mechanistic adjustment suggested that the mechanistic adjustment should not be used in isolation; in other words, you needed to look at all aspects of the debt-equity or cost of capital when determining the return.


We did have a preliminary conversation with Ms. McShane, who is very familiar to this Board, when we first realized that this was going to be an issue, and her preliminary indication was, although we never engaged her formally, was that the number would be north of 9, although, you know -- and we felt that we were perhaps a bit thin on the equity.  


But in the spirit of moving forward and using the handbook, we accepted the 9 percent as a reasonable measure for '06.


MR. MILLAR:  Just let me make sure I have your position clear.  You don't support an update of the economic indicators. 


MR. HAINES:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  And the reason for that is because if we're to do that, if I heard you correctly, it would make sense to update the rest of the ROE calculation?


MR. HAINES:  That the consultant engaged suggested that would be the case, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And there's no evidence on the record from this consultant?


MR. HAINES:  This is the consultant that initially did the work on behalf of the Ontario Energy Board with respect to the development of the methodology.


MR. MILLAR:  So you wouldn't support just updating those elements in isolation.  You would have to look at the risk premium, for example, as well?


MR. HAINES:  And the debt-equity ratios.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.


I have a couple of questions about chapter 6.  I assume you gentlemen aren't the people to ask about the marketing plan?


MR. HAINES:  Pardon me?  We are or are not?


MR. MILLAR:  Are not the people to talk about the marketing.


MR. HAINES:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  That's correct.  Could I ask you to turn to - again, this is in the pre‑filed evidence - tab 6‑4.  And it's an employee compensation table.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Can I assume this is the employee compensation table for THESL?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  This wouldn't include THC?  I'm sorry, it does.  It includes both of them.


MR. HAINES:  Yes, pardon me.  I stand corrected.  I was looking at the other exhibit we had.


MR. MILLAR:  It says it right at the bottom.


I just want to look at some of the compensation levels over the years, and I'll take, for example, the second table, compensation average yearly base wage.  Just take, for example, the top one, executives.  I see 2002 started out at $160,000, and then is some decline over the next two years, but then from 2004 to 2006 we have an increase in -- I guess there is a base compensation from 128,000 to 174,000, approximately, so close to a $40,000 increase.  


Would you care to comment on, first, I guess, why we have a dip down, and then a dip sharply up in the last two years?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I will comment this way, that there are a number of things that are in that number, but I would prefer to pass that to panel 2 for the details.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Haines, you adopt that?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  You don't have anything more to say on that.  So the same would hold true for the compensation, the incentives, the yearly benefits?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you may not be able to answer this, as well, but I'll try it on you anyway.  If you could turn to tab 6G, and specifically page 6 of 6.  It's the last page of tab 6G.


MR. HAINES:  Yes, I have it.


MR. MILLAR:  These are the performance pay guidelines.  Can I assume that these tie into the incentive pay table that we saw from the previous exhibit?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you gentlemen able to answer questions on these, or should this wait for the next panel?


MR. O'BRIEN:  We'll attempt to answer questions on it.


MR. MILLAR:  Just a couple of things caught my eye.  If we look at the bottom on the THC side of the score card, at the bottom of that table we see a "customer" heading, and on the far right box we see 15 percent, and then 5 percent under the "weight".  So I assume that to mean that 20 percent of the incentive is weighted for customer service; is that accurate?


MR. O'BRIEN:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Who are the customers of THC?


MR. O'BRIEN:  The ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  Would they be those five corporations we spoke about when we looked at the corporate structure?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No, they would be our customers.


MR. MILLAR:  Would they be the customers of THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So this is -- when we talk customers here, you are not talking about THESL as your customer.  You are talking about the actual ratepayers?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  What work does THC do directly for the ratepayers of THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, we have a shared service model where we provide services to THESL.  Our company is focussed on customer service.  That number as a matter of fact, for 2006, if I'm not mistaken, is now 30 percent.  Just to emphasize this, I should also say that these score card numbers are taken to our board of directors and approved, and are regularly scrutinized by the executives of the company on at least a monthly basis to ensure we are on target.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, correct me if I'm wrong, and I may be wrong, but from a customer interaction point of view, wouldn't customers chiefly interact with THESL rather than THC?  Wouldn't that be their primary contact?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Could we just have a second?


MR. MILLAR:  Absolutely.


MR. O'BRIEN:  On the surface, you would say that there are interactions between THESL and the customer, correct, but at the Toronto Hydro ‑‑ at the THC level, we have our corporate communications department, as an example, that deals with a number of customer complaints on a regular basis.  It deals with our shareholder.


MR. RODGER:  Excuse me, Mr. O'Brien, for interrupting.  Please speak up.


MR. O'BRIEN:  I'm sorry.  I'm going to have to get closer.  Our corporate communications/public affairs office deals with our customers on a regular basis, and that's a THC-assigned responsibility.  I personally deal with customers on a regular basis.  I'm the kind of person who, if a customer calls me, I will take the call directly and I will go and search out the solution and see if I can find it.  


Our IT services, which are corporate, provide services to our customers.  So although the customer interaction per se is with THESL, our corporate structure allows us to all participate in that customer interaction.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me the primary customer contact would be through THESL rather than through THC?


MR. O'BRIEN:  We get three ‑‑ is it 3,000?  Is that a good number ‑‑ 3,000 calls a day into our call centre, so there are ‑‑ there's a pretty significant interaction, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  If I look at the other side of the score card, the THESL side, and, again, if we look down at the same section, "customer, I see there that the weight is -- they're both 5 percent, so it adds up to 10 percent.  Is that still accurate for 2006?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I believe we've increased those.  I can't remember directly what it is, but I almost guarantee they're increased.  I could get you that number afterwards.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I can ask you to do that or --


MR. O'BRIEN:  You could ask the next panel directly, but I can almost certainly guarantee that that is increased.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you know if it matches the THC level?  I think you said it's now 30 percent for THC rather than 20?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I think if it's not 30, it will be 25, probably, but if you would get that from the other panel?


MR. MILLAR:  Absolutely.  Again, I'll ask this, and if you want to pass it off to the next panel, that's fine.  Is there a reason that the customer service side is weighted more heavily for THC rather than THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I think I'll defer that to the other panel.


MR. MILLAR:  Pardon me?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I'll defer that to the other panel.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you gentlemen able to help me with issues related to load forecast, or should I ‑‑


MR. O'BRIEN:  No, we would defer that to the other panel.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  What about line losses?


MR. O'BRIEN:  The same.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Hi, my name is Jay Sheppard.  I'm the counsel for The Schools Energy Coalition.  You provide distribution services to about ‑‑ you can't hear me either?


You provide distribution services to about 900 schools in your franchise area.  Can I start with -- and this may actually be a question for Mr. Rodger, Mr. Chairman.  It's normal practice for witnesses to adopt the evidence that they are responsible for, because then it becomes evidence under oath, and these witnesses didn't do that and I'm wondering whether there is any evidence that they actually have to formally adopt that is their responsibility.


MR. KAISER:  I think you're right.  Let Mr. Rodger handle that.  I thought of it myself and I thought I would wait and see how things develop.  What portion of this material is the evidence of these witnesses?


MR. RODGER:  Well, we talked about this.  Specifically, I would say that there isn't, but that doesn't mean that my friend or others cannot put specific aspects in their questions and ask them to adopt it.  We thought that was the most practical way, given the intent of this panel that we've talked about as a high-level policy construct that puts some context for the rest of the application and the subsequent two panels, which will be detailed and which will adopt the evidence in total.


MR. KAISER:  Is that satisfactory?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I was only concerned about things like corporate governance, which was allocated specifically to this panel.


All right.  Let me start with ‑‑ I got some figures from your 2004 annual report, and I'm just going to ask you to ‑‑ I don't want to go through the details on these particular figures, but I just want to get a sense.  


THESL has just over 1,300 direct employees; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I thought it was more like 1,500.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe we better go to the annual report.


MR. RODGER:  This is THESL, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  THESL.  So I'm looking at page 1 of your annual report.


MR. O'BRIEN:  I see 1,320.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Then you have THC with 233 employees; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, many of those employees spend the bulk of their time dealing with THESL activities; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that where the 1,500 comes from, a sort of an allocation to some of them to THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we were to look at sort of 1,500 from a practical point of view of THESL and 50 or 60 in THC, would that be reasonable?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I think 50 or 60 may be high.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe some of them also are allocated to the energy services or telecom.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the other thing I wanted to ask ‑‑ so of course this also shows the numbers of employees for the other subsidiaries, and they are quite small; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But some of the THC employees work for them, as well; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Small numbers would, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess it's fair to say that the vast bulk of your business is the THESL business?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Pardon me, Mr. Sheppard?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It's fair to say that the vast bulk of your business is the THESL business, the distribution business?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you just help me out with ‑‑ give me an idea of what the sort of revenue levels are for the other three, energy services, telecom and street lighting?


MR. HAINES:  I think the energy service is unusual, because we have some commodity trading business that's in the process of winding down.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I'm looking for sort of gross margin.


MR. HAINES:  I was just going to give you -- revenue, off the top of my head, is about 50 million combined for the three, something like that, once you sort of take the commodity trading piece that's winding down out of there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So 50 million of revenues -- or gross margin?


MR. MILLAR:  I didn't have the gross margin number.  The revenue number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's after taking out the commodity trading?


MR. HAINES:  Yes, we're exiting the commodity trading piece, so '06 is the final years.  We had a large activity there.  Customers are -- all but a few are gone, and that piece is now winding down and will be gone by the end of '06.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And was that a very profitable business?


MR. HAINES:  The commodity trading piece?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. HAINES:  We had one contract that was certainly profitable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you give me an idea of the annual profitability of that business?


MR. HAINES:  I can't.  We have our financial officer coming next.  He will give you more information on that particular contract.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is Mr. Couillard?


MR. HAINES:  Mr. Couillard, the CFO.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So I wonder if I can just go to the next page, page 2.  And this states, "From the beginning of 2005", so this may have changed, and I'll ask you whether it's changed.  But this states what your objectives are for these businesses; right?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm looking at the 2005 objectives for THESL and ‑‑


MR. O'BRIEN:  Sorry, which company?


MR. SHEPHERD:  THESL.


Let's call it the distribution company of the utility, because otherwise I'll get confused.  I'm looking at those objectives and I see, for example, increase investment in distribution plan.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's an ongoing plan, as we heard this morning, is you're going to renew your distribution plant over a number of years; right?


MR. HAINES:  Our distribution plant needs renewal over a number of years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's your plan to do that?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.  As we testified earlier, we are developing a comprehensive plan.  We intend to take it to our board of directors this year, and that will give us a long-term plan to work from.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you give this Board an idea of how much you plan to spend on that activity over the next few years?


MR. HAINES:  As we said, we don't have a comprehensive plan completed at this point, but what we can anecdotally tell you is that it will be higher than the '06 number, for the reasons that I described in our opening, whereby even at the '06 levels, the plant continues to age.  In other words, the investment in '06 is deficient in keeping the plant at the current level of age ‑‑ of its asset, let alone recover into a more comfortable investment profile.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you increased ‑‑ do you doubled your capex from 2004 to '06, roughly?


MR. HAINES:  No.  There are a couple of unusual things in there.  If you look at the distribution plant -- again, panel 3 will go into that in much more detail, but directionally we have $50 million of smart meter.  That's new.  We have a control room consolidation and we have CDM.  So those things I would consider to be one-time events or the first time that we've seen those. 


So if you actually look at the distribution component of the plant increase, it's nowhere near doubling.  In fact, it's a very modest increase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but you're thinking about spending ‑‑ just let me go to this a different ways, because we don't need an exact number.  It's just a question of orders of magnitude.  Are we talking about renewal program of 100 million, 1 billion, 10 billion?  Give us a ballpark.


MR. HAINES:  It's big.  It's big.


MR. O'BRIEN:  We're working on the plan.  It's big expenditures and it's more than it is in 2006.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  A billion?


MR. HAINES:  My gut would tell me it's north of that.   We have a billion‑and‑a‑half dollars of distribution plant net today, which half of it is almost exceeded its -- it's certainly past its depreciation and exceeded its expected life.  So a lot of that plant was put in many, many years ago, so the replacement cost of that plant today would be higher.


So intuitively I would say the number is going to be a large number.  Do we have that definitive number today?  No, we don't.


MR. O'BRIEN:  We will spend what is required for system reliability.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  Let me go back to where we were, these objectives, and one thing I was looking for on there -- these all look like very good objectives.  One thing I was looking for there is reducing rates.  You don't have an objective to reduce rates, do you?


MR. HAINES:  I mean, it's an underlying principle of the business to run a cost-effective operation.  You know, a safe, reliable cost provider is who we are.  We don't have it defined as specific objective however.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Still -- I'm going to sort of skip through this and ask you a couple of things.  Your current dividend policy is to pay the greater of $25M and 50 percent of net income each year; right? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you’re, in fact, doing is $6M a quarter - $7M in the last quarter - and then you adjust for what the net income was.  Is that right?

     MR. O'BRIEN:  That's correct, and we pay it in instalments. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   In instalments.  That's right.  

     Your income, in 2004 -- and I'm looking at page, now, 28 of this, a nice neat summary of some of your data.  Do you have that page there? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So your income in 2004, before interest and taxes, is just over $240M; right? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   And then you’ve got net interest of about 71 1/2; is that right? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've got taxes of just under 72.  Yes --

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- do you see that? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  For a net income, after some small adjustments, of $97.3M in 

2004; is that right? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- now your equity at that time was about $821M.  It's down at the bottom of the page, “Shareholders Equity.” 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so your actual -- your financial return on equity in 2004 was about 12 percent; right? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  In a consolidated way, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, of course.  And, will you -- correct me if I'm wrong, but in 2004, you’re allowed ROE for your distribution business was about 6.3 percent? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't know. I'm going to have to defer this thing to the next panel -- that question.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You don't know what the allowed ROE was for your distribution business?   

     MR. O'BRIEN:  No, I don't. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what it is today? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What is it? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  9. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And, in 2004 -- that was before your third tranche, right?  So it was two-thirds of your allowed -- of your total ROE; right? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I wonder if you could go further on, to page 62.  Do you have that?   

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And there it shows -- this is your segments; right? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so your electricity distribution segment shows profit before interest and PILs of $175M.  Do you see that? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And your “All Other” shows profit before interest and PILs -- or taxes, I guess, of $65M.  Do you see that?   

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now can we just talk about that “All Other” for a second?   That seems like a lot of profit to be in a relatively small part of your business. Can you tell me why that is? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  I'm going to refer that to the next panel.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you have an idea of what your over-earnings were, relative to Board-approved ROE in 2004?   

     MR. O'BRIEN:  I'm going to let Mr. Haines deal with this. 

     MR. HAINES:  I'll attempt to go one layer down, then we're going to ask the second Panel to pick up the discussion.

     This was a question about over-earnings.  First of all, we -- some of these are consolidated earnings that you asked us to speak to earlier, but here are some of the segmented.  The ‘04 are non-normalized, so one of the first things -- you know, the question is, you know, is there weather impacts or whatever, you know, that fall into what is a regulated or normalized rate of return.  We don't do that.   You know, normal course, we look at our businesses -  how are they performing? - but we don't do normalized results.  So it's true, the 6. -- the 76.8 was the allowed rate of return, but I do not believe we were over-earning during that period, when you look at it on a normalized basis, against what other utilities were earning.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't believe that your distribution business was earning more than the Board-allowed rate of return in those years, 2004 and prior? 

     MR. HAINES:   What I said is I don't think we were over-earning, relative to what others were earning in the marketplace, and so I might -- again, we haven't done the analysis, but my sense is it’s in the -- kind of the 8-percent range when you normalize ‘04.  But we haven't done it.  We don't do that, as a normal course of our reporting measurements. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have information for the Board on how much you have been over-earning in the past. 

     MR. HAINES:  I don't believe we were over-earning in the past.  We don't normalize and report on normalized earnings, no. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay. You said you don't believe you’re over-earning, but you said you didn't do the analysis; right?  The company hasn't done testimony the analysis. 

     MR. HAINES:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then how do you know?

     MR. HAINES:   I said my intuitive sense -- my sense is, when I know a little about what was going on that year, my guess would be it’s in about the 8-percent range.  But we have not done the analysis.  We can’t provide you with a normalized ‘04 number. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you provide that? 

     MR. HAINES:  We don't have that information. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you get it?

     MR. HAINES:  Not without a huge amount of effort.  I mean that -- you’re asking about going back to ‘04 and trying to normalize the results.  We don’t have that information.  It would take a fair amount of time to get that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  The other question I want to ask about this is -- and may be this is part of what you want to put over to the next panel, but let me just make sure I’ve got what I needed to get here.  In the non-regulated stuff, Telecom doesn't make any money, right? 

     MR. HAINES:  I think we best leave this to the next panel, the detail of each company and what we can disclose and what we can't disclose.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know whether Telecom makes money? 

     MR. HAINES:   No, I said I think it’s best answered by the next panel.  I want to get some advice about what we -- these are commercially sensitive information you are asking us now, about what our competitive businesses are earning and what the margins are.  And so there is some sensitivity about disclosing in a public forum what the margins are in each one of our competitive businesses. 

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, it's not clear to me why this line of questions is obvious for this rate application before the Board, whether our competitive businesses are or not profitable. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   But one of our positions, Mr. Chairman, is going to be -- sorry.  One of our positions is going to be that the allocation of shared services is skewed in -- so that it depresses the profits of the distribution company.  And one way to identify that is to look at the margins of the various businesses to see what the results are.  The prima facie evidence is that these tiny businesses made $65M in 2004, and the big business - which was 98 percent of their work - made $175M.  And that makes you want to ask the question, How did that happen?  

     MR. KAISER:  No, I understand, it's a legitimate question.  But I think it might be best answered by the people who are more knowledgeable about it.  That would be number one.  And I think it's fair for the company to get advice with respect to the confidentiality issue, because that does arise.  But we'll deal with that in due course.  But I understand the area you want to explore, and that's quite appropriate, but subject to those two comments let's deal with it later, Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Rodger.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

     Let me turn then to the level of your rates, and -- just excuse me for one second.  I forgot my copy of this exhibit.

    
Can you take out Exhibit K1.1, I think it was, from yesterday, Darryl Seal's ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Seal's evidence.


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't have that information.


MR. MILLAR:  I think it was K1.2.  I believe K1.1 was the applicant's motion record.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's correct, isn't it, that your ‑‑ that Toronto Hydro's proposed '06 bills to its customers are higher than any other urban utility in the province; isn't that right? 


MR. O'BRIEN:  Of the three utilities that you've compared us to, yes.  I wouldn't say that in relation to all of them, because I don't know what the rates are in all the other 80 or so utilities in the province.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just going to ask you about the biggies.  There are only a small number of big urban utilities in the province; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your rates, proposed rates, are higher than Enersource.  They're higher than Enwin; right?  They're higher than three and they're higher than Kingston; is that all correct?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, as I said, what I'm looking at, the three comparators, the answer is yes.  I don't have Enersource and I don't have Enwin and I don't have the other large ones, Meridian, PowerStream.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask you this a different way, then.  You're the CEO of this company.  Is there a point at which, as part of your job, you compare how much you're charging your customers with how much other businesses doing a similar thing are charging their customers?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You never compare to other utilities?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you were two or three times as much as Ottawa, let's say, that would be irrelevant to you?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No, I didn't say that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then I don't understand.  Could you help me understand?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Do I compare the rates, you asked.  I said no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the difference in rates matters to you?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I look at the performance of our company in relation to our customers, and am I able to provide them a good level of service with what I'm charging.  Do I feel secure that with what we're charging our customers, they get a reliable system?  That's what I'm interested in.  I'm interested in providing our customers with the best possible service.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't ask whether you are giving them good value?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I do, absolutely.  I do believe we are giving them very good value.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How do you determine you're giving them good value if you don't compare to other benchmarks?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, my measure of value is my customers' satisfaction.  Are they satisfied that we are providing them the service, and I subsequently feel that if they are, then they are getting value for that service.  All of the information that we get back from our customers is that we are giving them good service.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your view is that your customers not sensitive to your rates being higher than other utilities?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I'm not sure our customers are aware whether they are lower, higher, whatever.  Our customers want service.  They want good service.  When there is an outage, they want it dealt with quickly.  They want as few outages as possible.  That's what I deliver to the customer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And is there anybody else in your organization that is concerned with the relative ‑‑ I was going to call it competitiveness, but I know it's not a competitive business, but the relative levels of your charges compared to other LDCs.  Is there anybody else in your organization that's responsible for that?


MR. O'BRIEN:  As I said, our organization provides service to our customers.  We have a plan.  We have a series of measures.  We have extensive customer consultation.  We monitor our service levels to our customer.  That's what is important to us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a simple question, Mr. O'Brien.  Is there anybody else --


MR. O'BRIEN:  There's a simple answer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't answer my question, with respect.  My question is:  Is there anybody else in your organization that is responsible for comparing what you charge to other LDCs?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No, not that I'm aware of.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If your customers became aware of the differences in cost, would you believe that it would be appropriate for you to respond by trying to drive your bills down?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No, it would be appropriate for me to explain to our customers why they are paying what they are paying, what value they are getting for paying that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know why your costs are so much higher than other utilities?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't agree they are higher than other utilities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If your costs aren't higher, then why are your bills higher?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Based on the services we provide to our customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand the question -- I don't understand your answer, sorry.  Would you try again?


MR. O'BRIEN:  That's my answer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's your view your costs are not higher than other urban utilities; is that right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, in the comparators that you put in front of me, the rates are higher, but there are a number of other utilities that aren't there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, on this issue, do you have the rates for the members of the CLD group?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a spreadsheet wit hall the rates for all utilities that have filed so far.


MR. KAISER:  And that's what you are going to be putting in through your witness?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I was actually only comparing to the other urban utilities.  I can file the whole list, if you want.


MR. KAISER:  No, I'm just interested in the rates of the CLD members that have been referred to.  You have that, I take it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I do, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Is that in the record now?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not.  Well, I guess are some of these CLD members?  Are London, Ottawa or Hamilton CLD members?


MR. RODGER:  Hamilton is.  PowerStream is.  Meridian is.  Enwin is not.  Is that right, Mr. O'Brien, the members of the CLD?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Members of the CLD are Toronto Hydro, Enersource, PowerStream, Meridian, Hamilton now called Horizon Utilities, and Ottawa.


MR. KAISER:  So if you have the rates, let's just get the factual basis for this.  Why don't you put it to this witness and see if he at least will agree that those are the rates for the CLD members?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't have them with me, Mr. Chairman.  I can get them and file them.  This is public information in the Board's files.


MR. KAISER:  I understand.  I was just trying to complete the record here.  There's no point talking about relative cost levels and relative rate levels when we don't even have them in the record.  But we can deal with this through a subsequent panel, I would think.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I do want to ask one more thing on this, and this is for Mr. Haines, because, Mr. Haines, you were the chief operating officer of Ottawa; right?


MR. HAINES:  Of Ottawa?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. HAINES:  Yes, up until May of '05.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you help the Board understand why Ottawa's rates are so much lower than Toronto's rates?  You've been in both places.  You know both organizations.  Why are they so much cheaper?


MR. HAINES:  I'm a little -- I think it's a little bit inappropriate that I comment on Ottawa's costs, frankly.  They are not here and it's not fair for me to comment on them, and, frankly, I have confidential information.  I'm a little nervous about that.  


What I can say is that generally some of their costs are drastically different.  The cost of doing business is different.  If you look at some of their labour rates, the cost to attract, retain and motivate people in Ottawa is different.  Ottawa is one of the cheapest cities in Canada to live.  Toronto is not.  


They have a different ‑‑ once you a start looking at some of their distribution systems and the realties of the service to those customers, it's different, and then when you start talking about rates now, I'm aware that they have gone up 20 percent and we're going down 5 percent.  


After all the dust settles, how far are they off of us?  I'm not sure, and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me.


MR. HAINES:  I'm not sure once you finish doing the rate design work, whether you'll end up, you know, on a comparative rate exactly as it sits today.  My guess will be, when we start that process, you're going to see different distribution of costs.  And so there's a fair number of differences in the operation of Ottawa to Toronto, and so, you know -- and a lot of differences in terms of the history of those organizations and the service that they provide to the customers.  

     So when we start into comparators, you know, I think what’s important to note is that the Board, here, did a two-year exercise of trying to come up with the comparators and cohorts, and determined that Toronto was different, and that it could not be used as a basis for comparing against other utilities in the province.  That was work that was done over a two-year period and was recently published.  

     And for example, when we -- you know, when we started looking at things like this, one of the major differences are -- we have a bulk-meter strategy, you know, which we’ve had in place for years and years and years.  And so even -- what is the right number of customers in Toronto is vastly different that the methodology that was applied in Ottawa.  And so we have, you know -- we estimate something like 300,000 to 400,000 units in behind these bulk meters.  So is our number of customers a million?  Or is it 675,000?   

     And so, you know, as soon as you start looking at the differences between the operation, it skews whatever metrics that you’re using to try to compare the efficiency of the operation.  For example, when you look at our operating cost on a through-put basis -- a kilowatt basis, you’ll find that we are almost identical to Ottawa.  So that just is an illustration of one aspect of why, you know, the Cohorts and Comparators Report determined that you can't do this.  What you are trying to do is compare us against other LDCs.  There are vast differences and it becomes irrelevant.  

     So that's why, as an organization, we try to compare ourselves against ourselves, continuously push ourselves for greater efficiency. That's why we've been focusing in on 2,500 to 1,500 employees.  That wasn’t because we measured, you know, a number of employees against others.  That was something we drove internally, and delivered.  That's why we've been able to do the rate reduction while others haven't. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the other reason why you are able to rate-reduction is because you’re already over-earning, and other utilities were not; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  No, I don't agree with that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you’ve already admitted that it was probably in or around eight percent for 2004.  That's more than you’re allowed in return; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  You -- the second part of your comment was “while others weren't”, and I just -- I can't comment on the earning position of other utilities around the province. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Well you know that Ottawa wasn't over-earning, right? 

     MR. HAINES:  I’m just not going to comment on Ottawa’s financial performance.  I just don't think it's appropriate that I do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not? 

     MR. HAINES:  Well, for the reasons I said.  I'm not an employee of Ottawa.  I've been out of there for a year.  And they’re not here, so, you know, I don’t think it’s appropriate that I speak to their financial results. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The comparators and cohorts process didn't compare prices, did it:  it only compared components.  Is that correct?

     MR. HAINES:  Didn't compare “rates”, are you saying?   Or --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Didn't compare rates.  Didn’t compare top line.  It only compared cost lines; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  I don't know. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Well, it's your example --

     MR. HAINES:  Right.  And so I know the conclusion it drew.  How it got to that conclusion -- I haven’t gone in detail.  I know we have people in our organization that did, and we can certainly bring those forward, you know, for clarity.  But I know the conclusion was that you should not use Toronto against other Ontario-based utilities as a comparator. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- you're suggesting that one of the reasons why you might be different than another utility is cost allocation and rate design? 

     MR. HAINES:  That would be one difference that, you know, I believe is different between utilities.  The allocation of costs amongst its various classes may, in fact, be different. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you want to run down the list of comparisons here, and tell me whether you think that's true with respect to Toronto and Ottawa? 

     MR. HAINES:  No.  I think what we said is we'll bring somebody to talk about rates -- the specifics of the rates on the next panel.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me go to -- 

     Mr. Chairman, your intention is to break for lunch around 12:30? 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Is that convenient? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That’s very good.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

     Let me go to something you explored with Mr. Millar a few minutes ago, and that is the decision to use a forward test year.  As I understand what you said - and we heard this yesterday, as well, from Mr. Rodger and Mr. Zebrowski - your original plan was to go for a forward test year anyway.  That's because that's the preferred way of going; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, that's what our testimony was yesterday. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- but you still looked at what the result would be on a historical-test-year basis; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  At a very preliminary level, that’s correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, you filed that; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  Filed our historic-test-year results? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MR. HAINES:  No.  I think we filed our ‘04 actuals, not normalized. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we produced a table from your evidence, and handed it to Mr. Zebrowski yesterday - table 5.5 from your models you filed - that was on a historical-test-year basis. 

     MR. HAINES:  I’m going to defer this.  I believe that is ‘04 non-normalized results, but I'm going to defer this to the next panel, who can speak to this, specifically. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me take you then to -- do you remember what the revenue requirement was, when you did that model?   

     MR. HAINES:  No.  It was version one of the model, and it was a first cut at the revenues and expenses.  And so I can't tell you what the result was.  And remembering that there was, I think, six other versions of that model that were released, and there were even mechanical errors in some of those earlier versions.  So I just don't think there's a number out there that we can rely upon as being an accurate ‘04 historic test year, adjusted for the allowed items.  We don't have that piece of information. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We suggested in cross-examination of Mr. Zebrowski yesterday that the number was 433M.  Do you know if that number is right or wrong -- sorry?     

     MR. HAINES:  I can't speak to that number.  I'm going to suggest the next panel will be able to address that specific report. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Who is it, specifically, I should be asking questions about that?

     MR. HAINES:  The chief financial officer will chair the second panel. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Couillard is the one who can answer questions on that? 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

     Let me -- this may be another one you punt, but let's just see how far I can get on it.

     This is return on equity.  The -- your view is that the return on equity is 9 percent.  Is that right?

     MR. HAINES:  We relied on the Handbook -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

     MR. HAINES:  -- at 9 percent, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If the Handbook was updated, is it your view that the action is to update the long bonds and the spread?  Are you familiar with that? 

     MR. HAINES:  I mean, I understood the conversation that was going on yesterday about updating for the -- just for that - I think the term was “mechanistic” --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

     MR. HAINES: -- “judgement” -- which is the long-bond adjustment. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And has your staff done that calculation for the latest data? 

     MR. HAINES:  We haven't.  I think there is a consensus report that -- we actually don't buy that consensus report, and so we don't actually have that information.  My understanding - again, a bit anecdotally - is that it’s in the 8- to 9-percent range, but I don't have a specific number that I can give you as to what the return would be from that consensus report. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Will I be able to ask your Panel 2 to give us that number? 

     MR. HAINES:  Well, again, we don't subscribe to that consensus report that's used as the benchmark for those bounds, so I believe not.  Because we simply don't have that information. There was a specific -- my understanding was there was a specific supplier of those forecasts.  That consensus was a specific supplier and we don't subscribe to that supplier.  And so we don't have their updated consensus on the '06 bonds. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's in the Board's library, isn't it? 

     MR. HAINES:  I couldn't tell you.  If it is, then, yes, we could undertake to do that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to these org charts that we had so much fun with this morning.  I'm looking at the revised E2.7, page 3.  This is the new stuff that you filed, which, I guess, on the copies that the Board has -- is probably blue; is that right? 

     MR. HAINES:   I’m sorry.  This is the new --

     MR. SHEPHERD: This is the Toronto Hydro group of companies organize chart? 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   And I'm not going to go through how you are organized.  I just want to use this to get some information.

     Now Mr. O'Brien -- all of these people are employees of THC, right? 

    MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't believe they are all employees of THC.  Mr. Black, Mr. King, Mr. Bailey, Ms. Davidson and I think Mr. Dobbin and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I can't hear you, Mr. O'Brien.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Mr. Black, Ms. Davidson, Mr. King, Mr. Bailey, Mr. Dobbin, Mr. D’Uva and Mr. Tyrell are not employees directly of THC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. King, Mr. Bailey.  So those are all --


MR. O'BRIEN:  Either an affiliate company or THESL.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Black is an employee of THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. King and Mr. Bailey?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Are employed by THESL, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Dobbin is telecom and Mr. D’Uva and Mr. Tyrell are -- no, Mr. D’Uva, I don't know who that is.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Street lighting.  Mr. Tyrell is energy services.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So we'll ignore those ones.  Mr. O'Brien, is some of your -- the cost of your work allocated to THESL?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how much?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I'm going to say 97, 98 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What about you, Mr. Haines?


MR. HAINES:  Same answer, 97 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're just guessing right now.  Is it that range?


MR. HAINES:  No, it's a pretty close guess.  I believe that's the correct answer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Mr. Lethbridge?


MR. HAINES:  Ms. Lethbridge.


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't know.  I think I'm going to have to defer this to the next panel for those details.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just ask a couple of others.  Mr. Couillard?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I'll give you the same answer.  I prefer if that was dealt with by the next panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What about Mr. Zebrowski, same thing?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Same thing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But ‑‑ do we have somewhere in the evidence a chart of how these things are allocated, what the overall cost is and how they are allocated out?  For example, the total executive cost and how its allocated between the various companies, do we have that somewhere in the evidence?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't think it's in the evidence.  I don't believe it's in the evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The total amount of shared services charged to THESL is something like 50-odd-million dollars; right?


MR. HAINES:  Fifty-one million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fifty-one million for the test year; right?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And we don't have a chart breaking that down as to what the original costs are, that are allocated and how much is going to THESL by category, do we?


MR. HAINES:  We don't have the gross pool, I think is what you are asking about, and how much is all allocated out.  No, I don't think that is there, although the second panel can certainly speak to that and the methodology with which those costs are allocated.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But in the meantime, I wonder if you could just undertake to provide us with a chart like that, what the gross pool is by category and how it's broken out between the five companies.


MR. HAINES:  I think Mr. Couillard can bring that with him on the second panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if we could get an undertaking number for that.


MR. RODGER:  I wonder if we could just clarify, Mr. Shepherd, what you mean by category.  You described it as the gross pool by category.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, there are categories in the SLA, so they may be the easiest ones to use.  Any set of categories that's helpful to the Board in understanding this would be useful.


MR. KAISER:  Do we've a number for that, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that will be Undertaking U1.1, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 

UNDERTAKING NO. U1.1:  ALLOCATION OF EXPENSES BETWEEN COMPANIES.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if I understood your evidence this morning, Mr. Wilde, Mr. Zebrowski, Mr. Couillard and Mr. Sardana are all employees of THC, but are also officers, vice presidents or higher, at THESL; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Black is the other way around.  He's an employee of THESL, but is also an executive vice president of THC?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you gave an explanation as to what's happening vis-à-vis Mr. Black and Mr. Haines.  And I take it ‑‑ and I don't want to put words in your mouth, but I take it what you're saying is that because Mr. Black is retiring, Mr. Haines is sort of moving into the CEO role of THESL; is that right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No, I can't say that yet.  We are in the process of transitioning to a new structure.  What that structure will be is yet ‑‑ I'm not sure.  I haven't decided.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  All right.  Have you participated, Mr. O'Brien or Mr. Haines, in any sort of time study or allocation analysis of where you spend your time on the various companies?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No.


MR. HAINES:  I have not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So where do you get the 97 percent number?


MR. HAINES:  The next panel is going to explain to you the methodology of how that number is derived.  It's done through both direct charges where there's direct, and an allocation of some general services provided.  But the next panel will be able to go through that with you in much more detail.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me turn, then, to another thing I just want to clear up.  I might as well as you, because it sort of doesn't have a natural home.


I'm looking at your schedule 5‑5 of your EDR model, the scheduled headed up "Base Revenue Requirement".


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't think we have ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  This was the same one we asked questions of Mr. Zebrowski yesterday.


MR. HAINES:  Is there a section --


MR. O'BRIEN:  Can you refer us to a section?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's your EDR model, so I don't know where it is.


MR. RODGER:  Section C, tab C.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is sheet 5‑5.


MR. HAINES:  It's the pre‑filed evidence?  Right at the back, sorry.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Did you say C-5?


MR. SHEPHERD:  5‑5, headed up "Base Revenue Requirement".  Do you have that?


MR. HAINES:  We have that now.  Sorry.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a line on that "Other Income and Deductions".  Do you know what that is?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't.


MR. HAINES:  I don't either.


MR. O'BRIEN:  We'll have to refer that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I wonder if maybe you can't answer this one either.  Can you tell us why, using the 2004 historical data, that was more than $17 million?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't think Mr. Haines or I could answer that question.  I'll refer that to the other panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.


MR. O'BRIEN:  There was a difference.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason I'm asking the questions now is your panel 2 ‑‑ panel 2; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- will then have fair warning that they need this information.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ‑‑ I'm looking for something I can do in five minutes.


MR. KAISER:  We can break now, if that's more convenient.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be wonderful.


MR. KAISER:  We'll come back at 1:30. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 12:30 p.m.
--- Upon resuming at 1:35 p.m. 




     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

     Let me ask you a couple of questions about your O&M levels.  And I’m just --  again, I'm just looking at a high level here.  As I understand your evidence, Mr. Haines, your application starts with -- by normalizing your 2004 O&M numbers; is that right?  Distribution expenses? 

     MR. HAINES:   To the extent that we provided ‘04 numbers, I think that's correct.  I think that's a fair statement. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in order to get your '06, you didn't go through a bottom-up budget exercise; right?  You instead took 2004 actuals, and made a bunch of adjustments to them; is that fair? 

     MR. HAINES:  No, I wouldn't say that that's correct.  We do a budgeting exercise that, you know, builds the costs up.  So I wouldn't say that we simply take ‘04 and, you know, add known increases to that number. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Now, your regulatory budget and your corporate budget -- internal budget, they’re different; right?  They’re different processes?   

     MR. HAINES:  We have an internal budget, but it is the same number.  We don't have a regulatory filing forecast for ‘06 and a corporate budget for '06 that are somehow different. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When you did that budget process -- I take it you start with the senior management saying to the line managers, Here's our corporate priorities for 2006.  Right?

     MR. HAINES:  Certainly we communicate the priorities, as one of the steps associated with the budget process. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And also, early on in the process -- isn't it correct that you also set out some sort of assumption parameters: when you’re doing your budget, assume x, y and z; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  Let me give you an example:  for customer attachments, for example, we would have a -- you know, a sense of what attachments we were expecting for the year.  For compensation, we would set out a compensation assumption, so that, you know, a department didn't assume that they would have a certain increase for their management and, you know, a different department have a different one.  So we’d have some macro assumptions, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You want everybody to be on the same page when they’re doing their bottom-up budget. 

     MR. HAINES: Yes, to the extent that these assumptions are generic.  You know, for example, you know, management wage increase as a number to put in a budget process that's right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  And do you have -- most large companies have what's called their “Budget Memo” or “Budget Letter” that sets out that stuff. 

     MR. HAINES:  A budget direction sort of thing?   

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  

     MR. HAINES:  I apologize.  You know, I’m just not exactly sure of the starting paint of that budget exercise.  I know the second panel will be able to answer that.  But, do we send out a communication?  I know we send out a calendar saying, Here's the budget process, Here are the forms that you need to fill out, you know, Here's your schedule for coming forward to the executive to present and defend your budget.  You know, Here's the kind of things -- we do that sort of thing.  I believe, within that, we set out some of these assumptions, but beyond that, I'm not familiar with the detail that we send out to each department. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  Well I wonder if you can just undertake to provide that general set of instructions that you give in the budget process. 

     MR. HAINES:  So the assumptions -- just to make sure that I’ve got it -- so it would be like the templates?   

     MR. SHEPHERD:   No, the actual assumptions themselves.  Whatever document you have that delivers the assumptions and the, sort of, set of instructions for your managers to do their budget -- 

     MR. HAINES:  I'll see what we have, yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Wonderful.  Thank you.  

     REGISTRAR:  That will be Undertaking U1.2.        

UNDERTAKING NO. U1.2:   TO PROVIDE COPIES OF THE COMMUNICATION(S) BY WHICH MANAGEMENT GAVE INSTRUCTIONS AS TO THE PRIORITIES AND ASSUMPTIONS TO BE MADE IN PREPARING BUDGET MATERIALS FOR 2006.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that, sort of, takes me aback a bit.  Because I guess I understood from your application -- and I didn't even put references in my notes, here, because it was sort of -- I just sort of gleaned it from the application -- that, for the most part, you were sticking with numbers that's were pretty close to 2004, with a few -- with certain adjustments that you could identify .  

     MR. HAINES:  Right.  And so that’s one of the things I was trying to clear up earlier, because I haven't done that.  There was a -- I got a bit of a sense that they -- it was an understanding that the only difference between our '06 and our ‘04 was a couple of line items, and that it was just those that we had -- I think the term that I had heard yesterday was “cherry-picked.”  

     What I was trying to clarify is, that's not at all accurate.  What our '06 filing is, is our '06 costs from the ground up.  It just so happens that most of the line items, when you compare them against the ‘04, are at the same levels.  And so -- it's not the ‘04 number, though; it's simply, we held the cost or we’ve been able to maintain that service at that same cost level.  

     So it's still ground-up, but when you finish that ground-up, you look and you see, Gee, most of the lines look the same as ‘04 costs that were actually incurred.  But there was two great exceptions, and it was the two that I had talked about earlier. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   The -- and in fact, in some cases, you have '06 budgets that are even lower than ‘04; right?  Insurance, for example, is one. 

     MR. HAINES:  Yeah, I think that's fair to say.  There’d be some costs higher and some costs lower.  That’s right.

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Good.  Is there somewhere in the evidence - do you know? - where you have sort of a description of the variances -- the reasons why 2006 is different from 2004?  What happened? 

     MR. HAINES:  There is some variance analysis provided in the application. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  I didn't see any summary anywhere.  I saw little bits and pieces here and there -- 

     MR. HAINES:  Okay.  On all the variance stuff, I’m really --  you know, I'm not trying to be evasive.  I think that’s best left to the financial panel coming up.  I know they’ve got variances and they can explain them well. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is panel 2 or 3? 

     MR. HAINES:  Panel 2, the financial panel. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  From -- let me just ask you about a couple of them.  In compensation, you directed an assumption -- I think you made an over-all assumption for budgeting purposes of a 3-percent increase in compensation from ‘04 to ‘05, and another from ‘05 to '06; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  The ‘04 to ‘05 3-percent was found in a collective agreement, so I'm not sure I would describe that as an assumption.  I think that is a matter of fact.  In the ‘05 to '06, there is a -- we sent out a directive with respect to a base adjustment for 3-percent, in that that was what we -- it’s a bit delicate here, we just finished the labour negotiation.  But we had expected that we would land in the 3-percent range.  

     We did put a small contingency elsewhere for what I would consider to be, sort of, other costs:  you know, benefit changes and those sorts of things that might come out of a negotiation, that would be over and above the 3 percent.  But the base adjustment, 3 percent was, in fact, our assumption in the application. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that applied to base pay, overtime and premium pay; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  Overtime -- the base pay would be adjusted, therefore, the overtime would reflect that base-pay adjustment.  You know, it’s paid as a percentage of base pay, so I think that’s fair to say. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Oh, okay.  So, if a department is looking at its budgeting, it's not looking and saying, This person’s going to cost me 3 percent more next year.   It’s -- the department is saying, I should look at their salary and at their overtime rate, but if I'm going to need more overtime from them next year, then they’ll be that much more expensive. 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.  And on that one, that’s where I think where at last the departments on the operating panel will be able to give the detail as to how the overtime is calculated. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just asking, conceptually, whether the -- whether your assumption was an assumption of overall costs or an assumption of inputs to cost. 

     MR. HAINES:  I believe it’s an assumption of inputs to cost, but we’ll ask, you know, that operating panel to clarify that for you. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that’s good.  Another one I just wanted to make sure I understand is -- you assumed that your pension costs would increase by 3 percent from ‘04 to ‘05, which you sort of knew was going to be the case; right?  And then to 12 percent from ‘05 to '06? 

     MR. HAINES:  With respect to the revenue requirement, that is correct, because there was a period that those costs were being deferred, previously.  So '06 was the first full year of the OMERA contribution amount. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is not an increase in cost per se, but it’s an interest in costs that the ratepayers pay. 

     MR. HAINES:  It is an increase in costs that -- the revenue requirement - that’s correct - in ‘05, a portion of that was being deferred through a regulatory account, and is in the application.  So the customers are, in fact, paying both pieces.  But in '06 it's the first full year, if you will, of that higher premium. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So in '06, one of the impacts of this particular application is that the customers are paying all of the '06 pension and some of ‘05, ‘04, ‘03; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  We have deferral accounts that are being amortized, that’s correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  The other areas where you added specific amounts were smart-meters regulatory costs; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just -- you're familiar with the incentive plan.  You answered some questions to Mr. Millar this morning. 

     MR. HAINES:  Our incentive plan, yes. 

 
MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just ask a couple of questions about that, because I heard your answers this morning and I have to admit I am still a little bit confused.  Can you turn to Exhibit A, tab 6, Appendix 6G, please?  It's near the back.


MR. HAINES:  I've got it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it may be the last one.  It is.  Do you have that?  


So I'm looking at the first page.  Just let's follow up on the talk about the objectives that we talked about this morning.  Your strategic map doesn't have a --


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, can you give us that reference again?  We haven't been able to turn it up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit A, tab 6, appendix 6G.  It's right at the back of tab 6.  It's the last six pages.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.


MR. HAINES:  It's page 1 of 6 you're on?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, page 1 of 6.  That strategic map, in the same way as your objectives didn't have a low prices component, this doesn't have a low prices component, either, does it?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  As I understood what you were saying earlier, Mr. O'Brien, your take on the objective to achieve operational excellence is -- part of that is being as efficient as possible; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then on the next page, I'm looking at your 2005 priorities, and, again, I don't see anything about trying to drive the prices down; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No.  I would say, though, that all of the priorities drive that agenda.  I mean, you know, work practice as an example, if we become more efficient at work practices, that helps with cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understood you to say this morning that really safety and reliability are job one.  After that, prices are secondary to that; isn't that right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, you know, our philosophy is to be a safe, low-cost, reliable employer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Now, you talked with Mr. Millar about this stuff on page 3, I think.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Page 3 or page 6?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 6, too.  I thought you talked about the issues on page 3, as well.  As I understand how this works, as you get up the ladder, as it were, the performance of your own business unit or the performance of the corporation as a whole becomes more and more important, right, in terms of your incentive compensation?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, not necessarily.  You know, the executives of THESL, as an example, their performance compensation is split between their individual performance, the performance of the THESL business unit and, subsequently, the corporate performance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, my point was a different one.  The emphasis on individual performance goes down as you go up the scale?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Oh yes.  Yes, I'm sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're right that the executives at THESL have a component that is related to the business unit as opposed to the corporation.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.  I misunderstood your question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But, for example, the executives of THC, many of whom spent almost all their time on THESL, THESL's performance doesn't have any direct relation to their incentives; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  The targets are in THESL.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you lost me.


MR. O'BRIEN:  The intent is that the company's performance is rolled up into the corporate performance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And because THESL has such a big influence over the performance of THC, in effect, indirectly ‑‑ for example, Mr. Zebrowski, who doesn't have any business unit performance, nonetheless, is going to be largely compensated based on THESL performance anyway; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just go to the last page here, because the one thing that was the most confusing to me, and I listened this morning and I just -- maybe I just missed it.  You've backed out $68,000 out of your $3.5 million budget because that $68,000 relates to net income; right?


MR. HAINES:  Let me take a try.  Again, this is one of the ones where we may not agree, but we relied on the handbook direction with respect to where net income is a component of the bonus program.  Then we've taken that pay out for the net income piece and backed it out from a revenue requirement perspective.  So we have not included that in.  We took the handbook as a direction with respect to ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I don't understand is, on the score card, which of these things are the net income things, because I looked at them and I saw some that looked like they might be net income - like operating expense indirectly is net income - but I didn't see any that were actually net income.  So I don't know how you got the $68,000.  What things does it relate to?


MR. O'BRIEN:  With respect to that specific point, I would ask that you raise that with panel 2.  Mr. Couillard could get into that specifically.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn, then, to your capital program.  We talked about that a little this morning when we got into a little sidebar there on your capex.  But I guess I have sort of three questions on this.


You're proposing an increase in your rate base of about $30 million over your historical?


MR. HAINES:  I'm not sure I have that number right in front of me.  I'll take that as the number.  That sounds about right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does that sound about right?   And ‑‑ but I heard you saying this morning that the reason for that is not your big increase in capital spending, but something else.


MR. HAINES:  What I was saying, it's not our big increase in capital spending on distribution plant refurbishment.  What we were talking about this morning, we were sort of -- the question was, you know, Are we spending twice as much on distribution plant refurbishment?  What I was trying to clarify was, no, we're not.  The increase in distribution plant refurbishment is quite small.  There are some other bit items in there, smart meters, being the largest, $50 million, that hasn't historically been in that investment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't what I was actually -- the reference I was making.  In your direct evidence, or maybe it was in Mr. Millar's cross -- I think in your direct evidence.  You said that the increase in rate base wasn't really because of an increase in capital expenditures.  It was because you had already spent a bunch of extra money in 2004 and 2005.


MR. HAINES:  We were talking about the increase in amortization, and the question was around -- what I was trying to describe was whether that was future capital expenditure or one that had already occurred, and I was trying to explain that a lot of that capital expenditures has in fact already occurred in 2004 and 2005 and is now having a -- the amortization impact is now working its way through.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So -- all right.  I understand.  That increase must have been primarily in '04, then, since the increase in rate base isn't that big; right?


MR. HAINES:  I know our folks have got that information who are coming forward.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The second question is:  On distribution projects, you've filed a bunch of business cases and that's a standard practice internally, right, to have business cases over a certain dollar amount?


MR. HAINES:  I'm going to ask -- this one is definitely a panel 3 question, so I'm going to ask you to ask that question of panel 3.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to get to that.  It's actually something different I want to ask you.  But it is correct that you have business cases; right?


MR. HAINES:  I'll give you the quick policy comment on it and I'll say again panel 3 will be able to go through the details.  We don't have business cases for every capital investment, and so, no, we have materiality levels and we also look at things as pools of projects, so they will be able to give you more details about that on panel 3 will be able to detail that per.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And at what level, Mr. Haines, would a capital project have to go to you -- would the business case have to come to you?   

     MR. HAINES:  We're going to have to defer that, because we're not sure on the answer to that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It would be big, right?   

     MR. HAINES:  Well, it would be dependent on the natural of the capital.  That’s why I’m hesitating a little bit.  It will be different for a general plant than it will for a distribution plant.  And it will be different for -- so -- and it's different whether there's a project -- a whole project that may be a multi-year than an individual.  So it's not a straightforward answer to give you.  So, again, I say that panel 3 will be the best answer to that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You presumably have some sort of written policy on that. 

     MR. HAINES:  I'm not aware of a written policy with respect to that.  I think it's a management judgment. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- I must've misunderstood.  You don't an individual manager can decide whether he wants to get approval or not. 

     MR. HAINES:  No.  The judgment of management, and then we have a governance process that we need to go through when an expenditure is approved.  But there is no written policy that says, you know, A capital investment of this nature, or of this size, will require the following, you know, business case and -- we don't have something like that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Now that’s -- you’re an experienced executive.  You’ve been at Ottawa and other places.  It's pretty unusual not to have a policy like that; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  No, I think there’s a pragmatic aspect to running the business, as well.  Some things need it and some things don't. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the time -- the one time you do get involved in this sort of stuff, for sure, is in the budget process; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  We have a very rigorous budget process, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   And so major capital initiatives are all in that budget process. 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You talked this morning about the substantial amounts of money over the next years you’re going to have to spend in infrastructure renewal for your distribution plant; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   And that’s actually -- a lot of that is new investments in things like information technology, to use newer ways of doing things, making it more efficient; isn’t that right? 

     MR. HAINES:  No.  The majority of it is for aging distribution infrastructure. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it’s actually wires and poles, and things like that? 

     MR. HAINES:  Underground, transformers, poles, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  During the course of the last several years, Toronto Hydro was lucky enough to have quite a substantial net income.  I'm wondering why you didn't spend any of that on renewal? 

     MR. HAINES:  We've been spending 120M, roughly, a year.  So I think we have been spending a great deal on infrastructure renewal. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but didn't you say you haven't been spending enough?  In fact, at 200, you’re still not spending enough; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  As a matter of fact -- my point was, Yeah, our plant continues to age. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a new problem?   

     MR. HAINES:  The aging plant has been known for a while.  I mean, go back to the amalgamation: we've brought the utilities together, we’ve been, you know, learning about that infrastructure and how it works together and the state of the assets, and we’re now at a point where we’re starting to develop a comprehensive long-term plan.  

     And so the investment in the capital has gone through some cycle.  I think the first year was something like 160M.  I think it came down to about 120.  All very good reasons for that.  And we're expecting an increase in the future.  So is it a new problem?   No, it’s -- you know, the plant has been aging. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   And in fact, you've said that __ what you did you say?  40 percent of your plant is already past its service life?

     MR. HAINES:   30 to 40 percent was the number I gave earlier, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   And so -- it would still have been most of that two years ago, right? 

     MR. HAINES:  I'm not sure what the number was two years ago.  I mean, it's not directly linear, because, in fact, the city doesn't grow on a directly linear basis.  And so there can be times when more investment was going on.   It’s now come to an end of its cycle, so I can't say for sure what the number was two years ago. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not really a high-growth utility, though; right?  You’re a relatively low -- 

     MR. HAINES:   No, we have gone through period of high growth.   You know, you’ve got to look back.  This plant is 20, 30 years old.  So you’ve got to look 20 and 30 years when it was put in:  what were the cycles associated with it when it was going in?  And there are some bubbles. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Okay.  

     Let me ask you about -- I have two other things I want to ask you about.  One is cost allocation.  And I'm not going to get into nitty-gritty, obviously, but you're familiar with how cost allocation works, Mr. Haines? 

     MR. HAINES:  Sure. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at Exhibit E, tab 4, schedule 13.  This is School Energy Interrogatory No.13.  

     MR. HAINES:   13?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And as I understand this answer, you did a cost allocation -- your last cost-allocation study was in 2000? 

     MR. HAINES:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you submitted to the OEB -- but you're not using that cost allocation -- that set of information today, are you?   You didn't set rates under these?   

     MR. HAINES:  Again, I'm to ask the rates department to deal with this coming forward.  But I believe we applied the reduction equally across the rate classes.  We didn't make any rate -- we didn't do any rate-design work at the time the rate reduction -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD: All right.

     MR. HAINES: -- was being -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   So I'm going to ask you to turn to page 13, then. 

     MR. HAINES:  Page 13? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of the attachment.   So it’s Exhibit E, tab 4, schedule 13, attachment 1, page 13.

     MR. HAINES:  I have it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you see that?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If you take a look at this line “Revenue to Required Revenue” -- you're familiar with these ratios, right?  You've seen this before, in your utility years? 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I look at the over-50 kilowatt class and the under-50 kilowatt class for the general service, they’re both over 100 percent.  What that means is that, at your current rates at the time, you’re over-recovering from those classes; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you know whether that's been adjusted yet? 

     MR. HAINES:  We've not done any further work, since the 2000 cost. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So as far as you know, your under-50 kilowatt, for example, are paying 4½ percent more than their costs would generate. 

     MR. HAINES:  I can't say whether the costs are all indicated properly.  You know, if we did a

new design today, would we end up with a different result, or not?  We just haven’t done the work. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You might.  And in fact, that's planned for this year. 

     MR. HAINES:   Yes, that's my understanding. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  My last area is these two Exhibits, L1.3 and L1.4.  I guess, probably, these questions are for you, Mr. Haines, although Mr. O'Brien, feel free to jump in if you want.

     But let's deal with L1.4 first, right?  This is a chart of the average wages and various components of compensation, by category for THESL; right? 

     MR. HAINES:  I'm going to ask for a little help on this one.  I thought this had been replaced with more updated information. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I think this is the replacement. 

     MR. HAINES:  Is this the replacement? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MR. HAINES:   Okay, I apologize.  I’m sorry.  Okay, go ahead.

     MR. SHEPHERD:   So this is -- am I right that that's what it is:  a breakdown of compensation, year by year, for THESL?   

     MR. HAINES:  I believe that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if I want to look at the total compensation for executives, for example -- and I'm picking on executives because people have less sympathy for executives.  If I want to look at the total compensation average for executives for 2006, the test year, I would add up that box, that 178,347 and the similar box for the next three components, to get a total.  Right?  And that would be the total compensation for that category, on average. 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  On average, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And will you accept, subject to check, that what this shows is you’re proposing total compensation -- average compensation, per executive, for the '06 test year, of $316,266?   Will you accept that number, subject to check?   

     MR. HAINES:  Including benefits, I believe that's the math of those three numbers -- 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Those three boxes added up. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  I just notice, by the way, the incentives -- executives have a lot more incentives   than line employees. 

     MR. HAINES:  It's a progressive number. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we looked at that three‑and‑a‑half million, we can't just split it up by numbers of employees.  The executives gets a bigger chunk of that than the --


MR. HAINES:  They have -- more of their compensation is performance based.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So the number for Toronto Hydro is 316,266 for executives.  So I'm going to ask you to look at Exhibit L1.3, which we filed this morning, and this has ‑‑ this is from Hydro Ottawa's evidence, and this has the same four boxes, the first two on the first page and the next two following, done exactly the same way.  And will you accept, subject to check, that the average compensation for the executive level at Hydro Ottawa is $165,356?


MR. HAINES:  I don't think it's right to compare, but I don't see the benefit costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's on the next page.


MR. HAINES:  It's on the next page, sorry.  I can't comment on their benefit costs, for example.  I just don't know what are included in those numbers.  The percentage doesn't look right, but I can't comment further than that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is actually a Board-mandated form.  So what goes in there --


MR. HAINES:  It wasn't prepared by me or anybody that I'm involved with, so I can't tell you what is in that, for example, $9,000 for benefits for executive in Hydro Ottawa.  I just can't comment.  Clearly that's where the difference is, and so I can't tell you what that difference is, what they have or haven't included in that number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the difference is $150,000, so obviously it's not in benefits; right?  There's more than $50,000 in salary; right?


MR. HAINES:  Yeah, absolutely.  I see there are differences.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you've been a senior executive of both organizations.  Is there any underlying reason that you know of why executives at Hydro Ottawa would, on average, be paid less than executives at THESL?


MR. HAINES:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Haines, just on that last point, in the document Mr. Shepherd was just referring to, it indicates in the case of Ottawa that it doesn't include the OMERS pension and post-retirement benefit costs.  What's the situation with respect to your document?  Are those included?


MS. ANDERSON:  I believe they are.  That number is a percentage of total.  It looks like that does include the OMERS piece.


MR. KAISER:  That might explain part of the difference.  Mr. Dingwall?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.  Good morning, panel.  My name is name Brian Dingwall.  I'm here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  Let's just do a sound check right now.  I've been told that this mike might be a bit dysfunctional, but if I'm getting clear responses from everybody, then I'll continue.  


For the purposes of my cross‑examination, I'm going to make reference to two documents, one of which Mr. Shepherd provided you with a matter of minutes ago - it might seem hours, depending on the lunch break and everything - and that's L1.2.  The other document which I'm going to ask you to turn to is schedule 6.8, page 2 of 2, and that's in the pre‑filed material.


MR. HAINES:  We've got both of those here.


MR. DINGWALL:  That wasn't too painful.  Before getting into either of these two documents, I recall from discussions this morning that THC has filed a prospectus with the Ontario Securities Commission which provides the opportunity to raise approximately $1 billion for general corporate purposes; is that correct?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And that that prospectus has been accepted?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  I also understood from this morning that one of the possible uses for the money could be to pay down the debt obligations that THC has with the City of Toronto?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And that depending, of course, on market conditions, that debt obligation could be retired at a significantly or somewhat less of an interest rate than the current debt facility?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Obviously, if you had that opportunity present itself to you, it might be something to lean towards; wouldn't it?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes, but it's not our call.  As you can imagine, it's the call of the shareholder.


MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that the filing and the acceptance of the prospectus puts THC in the position to execute on that plan if all the conditions came together and if the shareholder agreed within the test year?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  So it's conceivable that the corporation's debt rate could ‑- that's been presumed in this application could change?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes, that's true ‑‑ yes, I'll leave it at yes, that's true.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I'm going to ask you to undertake, up until the date that argument is due, to let us know if you actually do that and, if so, at what rate you replace the existing debt with.


MR. O'BRIEN:  I give you that commitment.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.


MR. O'BRIEN:  As a matter of fact, you'll probably read about it in the newspaper before I tell you.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be undertaking U1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. U1.3:  CURRENT DEBT RATE AND UP TO THE DATE OF ARGUMENT.

MR. DINGWALL:  For my next and thankfully final series of questions, I'm hoping to take advantage of having both of you gentlemen on this panel as senior employees of THC with some knowledge of the operations of some of these affiliated companies that have some impact or raise some questions certainly in the minds of intervenors with respect to allocated costs and revenues going back and forth.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Just for the Board's information, I'm going to ask Mr. Haines to deal with these directly, because he is directly responsible for the affiliates.


MR. HAINES:  Thanks, Mr. O'Brien.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Let's see where we get to.  There's a chart that I'm not going to ask you to turn to.  It might be easier if we go to page 2 of the annual report that's at L1.2.  There we have got a brief summary of some of the other operating businesses that are within the THC family, and without getting into too much detail, what I just would like to do is to ask you some questions about the operations of these businesses, and, also, because what we're dealing with, with a forward test year is some presumption, some forecasting of what the business activities of these affiliates are in terms of the allocation questions that we're going to be dealing with the other panels on.


Let's start with Toronto Hydro Energy Services.  I'm looking at page 3, which is the other part of the open page of this exhibit.  It appears that one of the things they're going to be doing up until the end of the test year, but certainly in the test year, is managing wholesale electricity purchase price contracts; is that correct?


MR. HAINES:  I think contract is probably a better depiction at this point.  We have largely exited that activity now and we're in the final wind down.  I believe the city is one of our last customers there, and we have one contract from a supply perspective that we were managing down.


MR. DINGWALL:  What's the potential value of the power purchased under that contract?


MR. HAINES:  I don't think it would be appropriate that I answer that.  It's a commercial ‑‑ it is details of a commercial transaction.


MR. DINGWALL:  Let's turn to page 57.


MR. HAINES:  Fifty-seven of the annual report?


MR. DINGWALL:  That's right.  Under paragraph 18, which describes in the first bolded point electricity retailer, in the second last paragraph of that subheading there's a description of a service contract between energy services and the city, and it makes the suggestion that there might be a total expected settlement of $203 million to the city for the test year period in this past year.


I'm presuming since this is a public document we can deal with the number that's here.


MR. HAINES:  These are historic information.  You are asking me about forecast information about '06.


MR. DINGWALL:  This seems to be a forecast for '06.


MR. HAINES:  I'm going to answer the same way I did this morning.  I would like to get legal advice with respect to the discussion about margins on a specific contract.


MR. DINGWALL:  So the number here, is that the gross value of or the dollar value of what was projected at this point in time, or what would be going ‑‑ the dollars that would be flowing through THES?


MR. HAINES:  I believe these are gross numbers.


MR. DINGWALL:  So there is no margin?


MR. HAINES:  There's no margin shown here.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm not trying to get to the question of margin.  I'm just trying to understand the scope of the operation of the businesses.


MS. HAINES:  Right.


MR. DINGWALL:  Going back to page 3, looking back to Toronto Hydro Energy Services Inc., this company used to be the affiliate that was providing competitive commodity service to retail customers prior to the exit from that market?


MR. HAINES:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  But the residual businesses seem to relate to ‑‑ would these be correctly categorized as demand management initiatives?


MR. HAINES:  Sorry, the other businesses, the telecom business and --


MR. DINGWALL:  No, the other business that's THESI --


MR. HAINES:  The other activities that they're doing?


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.


MR. HAINES:  Demand management, yes.  I think there's two or three activities going on in there.  One of them, we have a hot water tank rental program in there.  We have HVAC type -- what we call value-add services we provide.  We provide some distributed generation, those sorts of things.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Load management services to customers.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is this where the propeller lives?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  So in context of the test year, is this company going to be expanding the menu of services that it provides, or is it going to be in pretty much a holding pattern?   I just notice in this document -- and we're dealing with what were stated then to be 2005 objectives, and obviously we are in 2006 now.  There seems to be kind of a growth mentality at that time.


MR. O'BRIEN:  There is still a growth mentality with respect to this company, but in different areas.  We are, as an example - I think I alluded to that this morning in my comments - looking at involving ourselves in the generation business, and this would be the vehicle through which we would do it.  But those discussions are very preliminary, very early right now, subject to the Ontario Power Authority's RFP process and other things that would come down over the next number of months.


MR. DINGWALL:  So if you do get into it, this is the vehicle.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Probably.


MR. DINGWALL:  Probably, okay.  There are obviously many things that have yet to shape up in the marketplace?


MR. O'BRIEN:  The marketplace is very fluid right now.


MR. HAINES:  I think it's fair to say that we are investing in development in those activities within that company today.  We may end up with different kind of partnership arrangements or something down the road, so there may be some different legal entities, but there's no revenue expected from those activities this year.


MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that -- I think the last time I had the opportunity to ask questions of Toronto Hydro, you, Mr. Haines, were down the road a little ways and I don't believe this company had a president.  Its outgoing president had not been replaced; yet I notice now, in looking at an earlier IR response, Mr. O'Brien, that you are now the president of this company?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Would it be fair to say that its plans will have ‑‑ provide some focus of your time in the test year?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I'll respond this way:  This company reports to Mr. Haines and Mr. Haines reports to me.


MR. DINGWALL:  Yet you are the president of this company directly, are you not?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I am.


MR. DINGWALL:  So rather than simply sitting at the top of the ladder, you are also the figurehead, if you will?


MR. O'BRIEN:  The figurehead, but the day‑to‑day reporting relationship is to Mr. Haines.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I notice another one of the initiatives that was an objective for last year with this business was to develop the water heater tank business.  My recollection is that this is the old legacy utility hot water heater rental.  The way it works is that customers have these tanks in their houses.  They pay a monthly fee that is collected through the utility bill.  Is that pretty much it, and then this company manages it?


MR. HAINES:  The legacy may be a bit of a stretch.  It certainly started off on that basis, but they are out there actively marketing the hot water tank program.  They have moved into natural gas hot water tanks, as an example, and so they have moved past that starting point.  


It's true they purchase services from the utility, as you indicated, for the billing of those tanks.


MR. DINGWALL:  That's where we move on to schedule 6.8, and I just wanted to gain an understanding of what exactly this entails.


On the first line on that schedule, there's a description of the activity which generates or is projected to generate for the test year a little over $5 million as being THESL, who is the applicant in this case, THESL as it's been referred to, providing water heater services to ES, which is Energy Services, the former commodity affiliate.  


Is it just the billing that's involved there?


MR. HAINES:  They do both billing and they do field services work on behalf of the energy service company.


MR. DINGWALL:  So it's utility employees ‑‑ pardon me.


MR. HAINES:  The LDC --


MR. DINGWALL:  The LDC would be providing these services.  Would they be provided with LDC employees?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And these would be where you have that cost schedule in ‑‑ and I'm just dealing at a high level.  I realize we're going to get there with another panel.  But that's why there is a cost schedule that refers to cars, trucks, cherry pickers, all those sorts of things that have a rate that ‑‑


MR. HAINES:  Without turning to their specifics, I think they principally purchased those two services from the utility, and then SE pays them for those services.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is there a billing agreement, as well, or is it just under that one service level agreement that these take place?


MR. HAINES:  I think we have a service level agreement, but the second panel will be able to answer that in more detail and point you to the actual agreement.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So from the high level, then, again, going back to Mr. O'Brien, because he's trying to escape and we won't let him, there is a mind of the company to grow this ‑‑ to continue to grow this part of the business and to look at new opportunities for it?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And you're directly involved in that?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Moving on to Toronto Hydro Telecom, looking at the 2005 objectives for it, which takes us back to page 3 of L1.2, the objective appears to be to continue to develop expanded reach and market share via the Ontario Utelco Consortium.  By expanded reach, I'm kind of making the guess that that means you want to have a larger coverage in your network, which means more fiber, cable, whatever you call the stuff; is that correct?


MR. HAINES:  We have a ‑‑ there are a series of, I'll call it, Utelcos in the GTA area, and we have a contract where we transfer data across each other's network so we can have a client that is in another jurisdiction, and vice versa they can have in ours.  We have a tolling -- almost like a reeling-type arrangement.  So when we talk about expanding the reach into other areas, that's what we are talking about, so we send our data through somebody else's network, but we have a customer at the end of that who would pay for that.  


I would say that in some ways, this piece of our business is probably broadening out its strategy for '06 beyond sort of a dark fibre service provider and getting into more value-add services, as well.  But, again, it's kind of within the context of penetration here, as well as moving geographically out.


MR. DINGWALL:  You want to cover a larger service territory, effectively, and you also want to increase your market share within --


MR. O'BRIEN:  A larger service territory, no.  That agreement has been in place for a long time, so it is that same service territory.  It's just penetration within that service territory.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, going back to schedule 6.8, and, again, as always, feel free to provide the boot, where necessary, to another panel, I'm looking at the last line in the first box there which describes Toronto Hydro Telecom and the service that's provided you said the activity column is THESL bills THTI for policy attachment and duct rental services.


I'm noticing that there appears to be some decline from 2002 to 2004, and then a slight increase in the 2005 value, and then a significant decline - almost cut in half - for 2006 estimations.  Can you give me a broad indication of kind of what's going on there?


MR. HAINES:  It started not with THTI, but one of our other large communication companies attached to utility infrastructure, and they took the recent decision of the Board with respect to the pole attachment fees and did some math and determined that they were overpaying, in their view, for access to poles and ducts for their facilities, and so they started a negotiation with us.  And our affiliate has taken that same position, and so we've completed a contract negotiation with those parties and it's at a lower unit cost now than it was previously.  So that's why you see this reduction in the fees paid by Telecom to the utility.


MR. DINGWALL:  My recollection is that the LDCs were charging what were effectively interim fees and that there was an adjustment once the OEB actually came out with a decision on what the new pole rental rates should be.


MR. HAINES:  I think it was on the pole attachment fees, if I recall, the two dollars, you are talking about.  This was more with respect to metres of duct rental fee.  That one was not dealt with then.


MR. DINGWALL:  Where was duct rental dealt with?  By the CRTC?


MR. HAINES:  I don't believe it has been dealt with yet by anybody, and so it -- I'm trying to avoid using the name, but one of our major clients who does connect to our poles applied the same methodology that was used in the OEB's decision and determined that there was a ‑‑ they were either going to come forward and request through a regulatory process or attempt to negotiate with us, and we chose to negotiate with them.


MR. DINGWALL:  Was this for duct access or pole access?


MR. HAINES:  Duct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Since we have a regulated rate for the poles, now people are starting to look at what the duct rates are?


MR. HAINES:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Your duct rental rate was higher than your pole rental rate?


MR. HAINES:  No.


MR. DINGWALL:  Lower than, I would guess?


MR. HAINES:  On a per unit, but what is a unit?  A unit is a metre instead of a pole.


MR. DINGWALL:  Interesting.  You mentioned also that one of your affiliates sought a reduction in its rate for rentals.  Was that for the poles or for the ducts?


MR. HAINES:  The duct.  That affiliate - this is the telecom affiliate we are talking about - pays the regulated pole attachment fee and has now negotiated a duct fee very similar to the other external party.


MR. DINGWALL:  So did the other external party have pole attachments, and then chose to move the ducts?


MR. HAINES:  It isn't a movement.  They were always there.  It's just a fee that was being paid.


MR. DINGWALL:  I don't know if this is a question for another panel, but in terms of the duct revenue, can you give me an indication of what portion of the duct revenue was from the affiliate?


MR. HAINES:  Could you ask the question again?  Was it pole and ducts, or just duct you asked?


MR. DINGWALL:  Duct.


MR. HAINES:  I haven't got the split.


MR. O'BRIEN:  The number that's there is for both.  We'd have to get the split.


MR. DINGWALL:  So what I'll be looking for, and I don't need this as an undertaking, but since the other panels report to you, you can probably pass on the message.  I'm going to want to understand what the split between pole and duct rentals is, and I'm also going to want to know what the proportion of duct rental there is for affiliates versus non-affiliates?


MR. HAINES:  We'll have to get that.  We'll pass that along.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm not asking for a formal undertaking.


Now, moving up the chart, I notice that there's also another affiliate called Toronto Hydro Street Lighting.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And that in December of last year - I don't know if that is in evidence, but I'm sure you are aware of it and I'm sure you can confirm it verbally - Toronto Hydro Street Lighting became the proud owner of street lighting that had formerly been owned by the City of Toronto; is that correct?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I think the purchase price on that was $60 million?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  That is not an in significant transaction for last year.  Is that company in a growth mode, as well?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Our plan is to use the purchase of the street lighting from the City of Toronto as a foundation to grow that business.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm trying to understand whether there might be any correlation between this business and any businesses that are taking place within the utility.  It looks like the billing basis for that is ‑‑ I apologize, my computer timed out.  


The billing basis for this relationship is around what are referred to as procurement and fleet services?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.  And I believe some call centre services, as well, emergency and outage notice.


MR. DINGWALL:  For details on that, I'm moving on to another panel.


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, noticing that it wasn't raining the way it is now over the lunch hour, I walked outside and I was trying to differentiate in my mind between a power pole and a street light pole.  I'm not sure, are there some that are ‑‑


MR. HAINES:  I think there are about 160,000 power poles that are owned by the utility, and there are about 50,000, I seem to recall, that are specific to street lighting.  So when we purchased the street lighting, some of it was the asset that was on the utility infrastructure and some of it we included the pole and the lighting.  That's a piece of it.  Then there's underground facilities linking those together to provide the power supply.


MR. DINGWALL:  Right.  You mentioned that some of the lights were on power poles.  So for ownership purposes, how does that work?


MR. HAINES:  The asset is owned by the street light business.


MR. DINGWALL:  The asset being the whole pole now?


MR. HAINES:  No, the lighting component.     


MR. O'BRIEN:  The lighting attachment.


MR. DINGWALL:  Was the city in the business of having cable connects or other connects on its poles, its lighting poles?


MR. HAINES:  Do they provide that service?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't know.  I can't answer that specifically.


MR. HAINES:  I do not believe we have any revenue coming from -- or it's a very small amount in our street light business from other providers.  I know that others have their own poles.  You know, that tends to be their case, but I do not believe there's much attachment by Rodgers or Bell or anything to those street light assets.


MR. DINGWALL:  Let's go back to page 3 of the annual report, L1.2.  I note under Toronto Hydro Street Lighting Inc., under 2004 achievements, there's reference to that company providing construction services for Rodgers Cable.  Is that with respect to attachments?


MR. HAINES:  I'm going to have to ask another panel to take that question.  I'm not sure what the activity was in 2004.


MR. DINGWALL:  I guess where I'm trying to come from is I'm trying to understand whether or not this company would be in competition with the utility for the acquisition of connection customers.


MR. HAINES:  No.  I think it's easy to say, no, it's not.  It's not its principal service.  Its service is in provision of street lighting or lighting, and so when Mr. O'Brien talked about growth, for example, we have targeted some opportunity to expand, but it tends to be in parking lots and infrastructure that is consistent with street lighting.  We don't see it as being a product line, or anything like that, to provide access to other utilities or something like that.  That's not one of our product lines, if you will, or services that we provide.  So we're not in competition with the utility on that activity.

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm just going to go back to my notes for a moment -- and yes, I did make notes.  

      Well, I’d like to take the opportunity to thank you, gentlemen, for your answers.  They have been most helpful in helping me with the next panels, and giving me a good overview.  

     MR. HAINES:   Thank you.

     MR. O’BRIEN:   Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.

     Mr. Adams?

     MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS: 

     MR. ADAMS:  Panellists, I want to address my questions to the panel, at large.  If any of you -- if either of you want to speak up, please feel free.  I'm not directing them at any particular witness.  

     The areas that I’d like to canvass with you relate to rates -- sorry.  The areas I want to canvass with you relate to rates, labour cost, infrastructure at a policy level, and reliability matters, again at a policy level, for the purposes of capital and operations and maintenance planning.

     I understand that this morning there was discussion with Mr. Shepherd with regard to rates matters.  I would like to turn you to Energy Probe Interrogatory No.1.  For the record, that's section E, tab 3, schedule 1.  

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, we have it here. 

     MR. ADAMS:  The table attached identifies a kind of before and after picture, pre-amalgamation.  And with the proposed '06 rates on an apples-to-apples basis, looking at the distribution component of rates, one observation that I made, jumping out of this, is that for some classes of customers - these are residential customers, particularly in the City of York -- it’s a similar story for Scarborough customers, but just take the City of York people, for starters, the rate picture they’re looking at in '06 is approximately -- well, it's more than double what they were paying back in 1997.   

     So I've got a couple of questions that arise from this.  You've been harmonizing your rates, and that's caused rates to go up, very much for some customers, and somewhat less for other customers.  Can you describe, in general terms, what kind of reaction you've had from customers?  Were customers generally aware of this, and did they react? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  I'm not aware of any complaints with respect to this, although you may want to address another panel on that matter.  But, personally, I'm not aware of any complaints. 

     MR. ADAMS:   Okay.  I guess back in 1997, it was not clear to customers that they were paying bundled rates, and it was difficult for people to see what was going on, I guess.  That may have affected the uptake, but this panel can't speak to customer reaction, in terms of the impacts that we've seen there. 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  No, I can't.  But I agree with you about the bundled and unbundling of rates and the impact that that's had.  I remember, shortly after rates were unbundled, receiving calls about debt charges, as an example.  And you know that they were always built in, and it was very difficult to explain to the customer that they had always paid them, they were just broken out now.  Those kinds of things we got, but I don't remember anything, specifically, on this particular item, no. 

     MR. ADAMS:  When amalgamation was going on, one of the drivers, on a policy level, that was -- that seemed to be motivating the provincial level of government, in terms of its reorganization, was an effort to develop efficiencies out of this amalgamation.  And I'm wondering if you can just, in general terms, describe any efficiency impacts that might have arisen from the amalgamation, and whether the efficiency effects of that amalgamation are someplace buried in your application in this case.  Or are those things now fully mature and just simply a completed project? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  The amalgamation of the utilities across Ontario was really a subset, to a large extent, of those municipalities that were amalgamated as part of a provincial directive.  There were four -- other than Toronto, there were four others that were directed to amalgamate.  So it's not as if the direction was, Let's amalgamate the utilities.  It was a subset of another direction.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Were there efficiency effects?   Did you -- were you able to achieve -- realize efficiency benefits from this amalgamation? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.  I alluded to it this morning in my comments, and I'll just take a minute and refer to those again in my comments.  We reduced our staff compliment, as an amalgamated entity, from about 2,500 employees to 1,500 today -- a 1,000 difference.  We have dramatically improved our wait-times for customer calling.  Our safety record has been improved by in excess of 90 percent.  

     MR. ADAMS:  That would be the safety record aggregated -- 

     MR. O'BRIEN: Aggregated.

     MR. ADAMS:  -- yeah, right. 

     MR. O’BRIEN:   Aggregated.  I think our fleet numbers have gone from 1,100 to 700.  There have been dramatic savings. 

     MR. ADAMS:  I'm going to get into a line of questioning with your capital panel, later, but in general terms, has your capital planning now, kind of, completely integrated all the previously-isolated utilities there, so that the whole thing is now operating for the purposes of deployment of capital investment -- the system is integrated --

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. ADAMS: -- is what I'm trying to get at.

     MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes. 

     MR. ADAMS:   So the seams that there were between the utilities before now, that's something that we don't have -- that we've lived down. 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  There are -- we are still working to create a seamless organization, and that has got some work left to do. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Well, what -- again, just in general terms - I'm not trying to take you into a lot of detail here - what are you thinking of?   

     MR. O'BRIEN:  We plan for our capital on consolidated basis but, like any number of organizations that have been put together, there are still thoughts that, Well, doing it that way was better than the way we’re going.  Sort of a legacy thinking that, Well, we did it this way in the old days; it was better, we should still do it this way today.  But from an over-all capital perspective, and a corporate point of view, yes, we are fully-integrated. 

     MR. ADAMS:   Okay.  I'll take it up with your next panel.

     With regard to -- I want to move on to the area of labour cost.  Are there any other -- is there another urban LDC -- and I want to leave Hydro One out of it for a moment, are there any other -- is there another urban LDC with higher per-unit labour costs than Toronto Hydro?   

     MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't know.  I haven't looked at that. 

     MR. ADAMS:  You don't benchmark yourself against them? 

     MR. O'BRIEN:  No, I think I answered that this morning, that I -- my focus is driving a reliable customer service.  And, you know, we endeavour to do that every day. 

MR. ADAMS:  You're one of the highest-cost utilities in the province.  Of the major urban utilities, you are the highest cost.  What I understand of your labour costs, they appear to be at the high end of the range.  Is labour costs one of the reasons that your rates are among the highest?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I would say that our labour rates contribute to the overall rates, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  In other municipal services -- for example, police services, historically Toronto has had higher labour costs in police services.  It appears, whenever there's renegotiation of these things, that Toronto's police service rates appear to be the spearhead that pushes the envelope upward for the whole province.  That's the impression I get with regard to Toronto Hydro's labour rates, particularly vis‑a‑vis the labour agreements with CUPE Local 1.  Is that an accurate perception, or is that just -- am I seeing shapes in the clouds?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, I guess that depends on who you ask.  There's no doubt that our CUPE Local 1 views themselves as leaders in the province, but there are -- you know, our rates may be higher.  There are others -- there's another that's higher.


MR. ADAMS:  There is another?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Hydro One, I believe.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, right.  I think you're right there.  When is your next ‑‑ when is the expiry of your next major contract on the labour side?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Three years from the end of this month.


MR. ADAMS:  And that's both with regard to ‑‑ do you have one major bargaining unit?


MR. O'BRIEN:  One major bargaining unit, CUPE 1.  We have a small society.


MR. ADAMS:  The current labour agreement locks in 3 percent per year?


MR. O'BRIEN:  It's a 10 percent increase over three years.


MR. ADAMS:  Which is above most major forecasts' rate of inflation over the next three years; would you agree with that?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No.


MR. ADAMS:  You think that's an inflation increase?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't know what the inflation increase is going to be in the future, but that settlement is not beyond other agreements that have been reached in the last little while.  I think it's within the realm.


MR. ADAMS:  At one time, Toronto Hydro labour agreements had contract provisions whereby line crews that were doing construction work were relieved of their duties if the summer temperatures exceeded -- and I've forgotten what the figure was.  I believe it was 31 degrees.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.  We have that both in heat and cold, but I'm not sure what the number is.


MR. ADAMS:  When that was introduced, that was a unique provision.  Do other utilities have that provision in their contact agreements now?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't know.  I can't answer that.


MR. ADAMS:  When the workers are relieved of their agreements ‑‑ or their responsibilities on that day, how does it work?  Do they get paid for the time off?


MR. O'BRIEN:  They work on other things, but you may want to explore that with another panel in more detail.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Perhaps I'll take it to another panel, but tell me if I need to.  When this rescheduling of work happens, is there an impact on your overtime expenses from those transfers of duties?  I'm happy to take it up with another panel.


MR. O'BRIEN:  I would take that to another panel.


MR. ADAMS:  Sure.  Thank you.  Does Toronto Hydro contract out any power line construction or maintenance?  My impression is that it's all done in house.


MR. HAINES:  I don't think power line maintenance.  We do some contracting out, vegetation, some locates and things like that, but my information is we don't actually do power line maintenance work with outside contract, but the third panel will be able to certainly confirm that.


MR. ADAMS:  Sure.  And is that contracting out all done on a hiring hall basis or --


MR. HAINES:  Competitive bid, RFP-type process.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Tender.


MR. ADAMS:  But do the tenders specify that the labour on the other side of the contracts has to be CUPE 1?


MR. HAINES:  No.


MR. O'BRIEN:  No.


MR. ADAMS:  So you can contract out at market prices, like at free market prices?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  How do those rates for contract services compare with your own in‑house?


MR. HAINES:  In most cases we no longer have in house.  We have contracted that business process out, and so you no longer have a comparator on an in house now.  You were talking about rates earlier.  I think there's a couple of examples where we do contract out and have found that we have lower unit costs, but in fact when we look at performance, we actually find that our existing staff, actually, on a per unit basis, end up being more efficient.  But there are only a couple of examples where we have both our existing employees doing the same work as a contract-out employee.


MR. ADAMS:  Almost all the LDCs contract out metre reading now.


MR. HAINES:  We contract that out.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Now, again, my knowledge is only historical, so you may have to help me here.  Historically, when Toronto Hydro was doing power line construction and maintenance, if I understand correctly, the contract provisions in your labour agreements prohibited the utility from doing this work on a shift work basis.


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't know.  I would refer you to panel 3 for that.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So how would you characterize your relationship with CUPE Local 1 now?  You have just completed your agreement with them?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes, we have.  I would categorize our relationship with them as probably better than it has ever been.


MR. ADAMS:  And have you got metrics for that in terms of grievances and those kinds of issues?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Grievances are down.  We participate in joint union management programs.  I don't know if they are still here, but the vice president of the union was here this morning.  I believe that a large part of our success in safety has been through our relationship with the union and our joint commitment towards safety.


MR. ADAMS:  In some other unionized shops within the broader power sector, not just the LDCs within Ontario but also OPG, there have been major changes in recent years in terms of the engagement of some of the unionized staff in terms of productivity efforts that OPG, as a business, has been making.  Has that affected your business, at all?


MR. O'BRIEN:  We have begun to discuss with our unions the possibility of joining together in productivity initiatives that would benefit both sides, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  You ‑‑


MR. O'BRIEN:  We're very preliminary.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Okay, interesting.  Thank you.  Perhaps I'll leave off some more detailed questions there for panel 3 and take your attention to subjects related ‑‑ I don't know what to call this.  I'll call it infrastructure, for want of a better term.


Can I turn you to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 3? 
     MR. HAINES: Yes, I’ve got it here. 

     MR. ADAMS:   Maybe we were a little clumsy in our question. We’re trying to get some kind of spatial sense for reliability, in terms of the geographic distribution of reliability issues within your system.  And the response came back to us -- was that the kind of crude method we, perhaps, had identified for trying to identify zones was not something that the utility was tracking.

     Is geography relevant to urban -- like, the urban geography of Toronto, is that relevant to your reliability issues? 

     MR. HAINES:  We track reliability by asset-type.  And so, when we’re thinking about planning and, you know, we’re learning about where we’re having specific problems, we tend to look at that feeder, that transformer:  those are the -- that's the way we track.  We don't say, that neighbourhood, or, that neighbourhood.  

     We do collect some information by region, to say, anecdotally, we have a problem in this region that needs more investigation.  But we don't keep any sort of statistics on CAD safety, et cetera, by community.  We just track it by infrastructure. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  So if we were looking at infrastructure here, what would be a kind of high-level indicator that would correspond?   Like are we -- 

     MR. HAINES:  We might have a feeder, for example -- 

     MR. ADAMS:  Yeah.

     MR. HAINES: --  in the community.  So that might be an example, where you’d be able to sort of notionally tie it to a community.  But it's not an exact measure, you know, depending on how far down you go, the granularity will stand to fall apart.  But that would be the closest, I think, you could hope to getting it tied to a community. 

     MR. ADAMS:  The second part of the question asked about the correspondent -- the corresponding issue of capital expenditures.  We assume that reliability is a driver for your capital expenditures.  And so we're trying to identify the geographic distribution of your capital programs.  It looks like -- I mean, just kind of in general terms, that most of the capital -- the most acute capital needs are in the old City of Toronto -- from the pre-amalgamation definition of City of Toronto.  

     Is that a fair generalization?

     MR. HAINES:  I just want to caution that you say we do our capital planning based on reliability.  I think that is a factor, but not the only factor.  Ideally, you get it before it breaks.  So you are looking at your aging facilities, as well as, you know, outage records and some of that brought together to become your comprehensive plan.   And they’ll, clearly, talk about that more on the third panel.  

     So you can't, per se, conclude what you did --  but it's true that most of our aging infrastructure is in the downtown corridor.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Let me flip you over to the next interrogatory.  There we were asking for a histogram of the pole age -- pole and transformer age, by decade, just to get some kind of preliminary understanding of what we’re talking about, here, in terms of capital assets.  And the data that's provided indicates that there are no poles or transformers pre-dating 1950.

     Now there’s a -- Interrogatory No. 8, a few pages further in.  It’s a 9-page interrogatory.  If you’d just go over to -- I believe it's the second page on that No. 8. 

     MR. HAINES:  Page 2 of 9? 

     MR. ADAMS:  2 of 9.  In No. 8 -- question no. 8, what we were trying to get at is -- we were looking at an example of a particular capital program in an older area of your distribution network.  This is a project that I've been observing for some years.  You've been working on it.  And it's identified, there, that some of the distribution plant dates back to 1913.  But in that interrogatory - the first one I took you to, No. 3 - the point that -- the response indicates that there's nothing earlier -- nothing older on your system than 1950.  

     So I'm just trying to understand what's going on - I'm sorry -- Interrogatory No. 4 is the one where the claim is that there's nothing older on your system than 1950.  But you go around the city, there are lots of backyards in Rosedale, and some parts down in Riverdale, in my neck of the woods, in the west end, there’s some -- lots of poles there that are earlier than 1920. 

     MR. HAINES:  I must admit you are the most thorough intervener I’ve ever heard in my life. Because I think I talked to you in the hall one day about the fact that you were out checking labels on some of our poles -- 

     MR. ADAMS:  Yeah.

     MR. HAINES: -- These are our records.  Are they flawless?  You know, if you found a pole that's 1913, I'm not going to dispute with you that there’s a pole -- 

     MR. ADAMS:   I’m not talking about just a single pole:  whole sections of the city. 

     MR. HAINES:  -- but these are our records.  To the best of our knowledge, this is the age of the poles.  If there are some older, that's a flaw in our records. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  I guess, at some point, it doesn't really matter how old the poles are.  These are ancient.  I mean, it’s obvious to absolutely anybody that looks at them that these are absolutely decrepit, old, ancient equipment.  What’s important is the fact that they’re still standing up. 

     MR. HAINES:  Again, you can't necessarily tie expected life to the age.

     MR. ADAM:   That’s right.

     MR. HAINES:  I mean, you can have poles that came in much later, in fact -- have had, for whatever reason -- are decaying faster, and those sorts of things.  So, it’s a combination of failure and age that we bring together in our asset planning. 

     MR. ADAMS:  I bet some of the people that put in those poles, back in World War I, didn’t imagine that they’d still be in service now. 

     MR. KAISER:  Besides, Mr. Adams, the people in Rosedale like old poles.  They’re grey, like the fences.

     We're going to take the afternoon break:  come back in 20 minutes.  

--- Recess taken at 3:00 p.m. 


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 3:20 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please, be seated.  Mr. Adams?


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  When we broke off, we were working through some ancient history with regard to the ‑‑ some of the assets, overhead systems.  Again, I'm going to kind of try to keep this at a high level, but it seems to me that for many decades it's been obvious that there have been substantial needs for upgrade investments, that we're starting to see some of that crop up in your application in this case.  


But with regard to the replacement and modernization of these very, very old antiquated systems, it should have been obvious for decades that we needed to replace that; right?


MR. HAINES:  I think this data has been available for quite some time, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Since the Electricity Act of 1998, the City of Toronto has withdrawn from its utility holdings a substantial amount of capital in various forms.  I've a recollection that, for example, real estate was transferred to the city's account from Toronto Hydro after the Electricity Act was promulgated; is that correct?


MR. HAINES:  I wasn't there, but it's my understanding that at the time of the amalgamation, certain real estate assets were transferred to the city as part of the setting up of the utilities.


MR. ADAMS:  And the utility's debt was initially created by the City of Toronto?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Is that also correct?


MR. HAINES:  Not unique, but each of the utilities were set up and a debt-equity ratio was established and a note was established associated with the debt component, yes.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Some utilities have since then monetized that debt, also. 


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Do we have a -- could we go back through financial statements of Toronto Hydro since 1998 and recapture all of these transfers?  They are all reported in your annual reports?


MR. HAINES:  I believe those assets that you're referring to were transferred before amalgamation or as part of amalgamation, so they never became are part of the sort of utility assets, but ask panel 3 to elaborate on that.  That's my understanding.  So it's not that they started off as a utility asset and no longer were a utility asset or something like that that you might be asking about.


MR. ADAMS:  In your relationship with your shareholder, is there ‑‑ is the issue of the capital needs of the utility with regard to some of its extremely ancient facilities, is that a feature your relationship with them?  Are they mindful of that when they are making financial ‑‑ entering into financial demands associated with the utility?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't ‑‑ I don't know on what basis they make the demands on the utility.  Obviously through the normal dividend policy it's done.  I can't recall ever having sat with them and discussed their aging capital asset and the relative importance of our dividend to correcting that situation.


MR. ADAMS:  Historically, prior to the electricity reforms and amalgamation and the Electricity Act in 1998, the utility that we're talking about here were co‑ops operated effectively on behalf of their customers.  There were no owners for those utilities. It was all customer ‑‑ the capital of those utilities was all customer-contributed capital.  Would you agree with me?


MR. O'BRIEN:  They were basically not-for-profit organizations for the customers, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  In the current ‑‑ like, with a normal utility that's always been a private utility, like gas utilities, for example, if there's a need for capital to restore systems or to build new systems, the capital is contributed by the shareholder, and then the shareholder is compensated.  The whole arrangement with the electric utilities is somewhat different, because the history is different; is that fair?  


MR. O'BRIEN:  It is.  We're not allowed to go to our shareholder for a capital call, as an example, under our shareholder agreement.


MR. ADAMS:  One other category of infrastructure that I want to address briefly is the area of contaminated properties and equipment, and there's Interrogatory No. 5, Energy Probe No. 5, that addresses this matter.  


I take it you'll agree with me, just like old poles and transformers, contaminated property and equipment is another legacy issue that the utility is going to have to deal with?  We see that showing up in your capital program.  It represents an expense for the utility.  


There's something analogous about these contaminated properties and old equipment, in the sense that they both represent liabilities that need to be dealt with; is that fair?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  If I understand correctly, the contamination is primarily arsenic, PCBs, lead and diesel fuel or contaminated soils related to diesel fuel.  Am I missing anything major from that list?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I would also say asbestos.


MR. ADAMS:  In buildings, primarily?


MR. O'BRIEN:  And in the ducts, in vaults and ducts.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, in terms of your overall strategy dealing with these issues, are we looking at some point in time when these issues are all going to get cleaned up and completed?  Like PCBs, for example, you have a target date becoming a PCB-free utility?


MR. HAINES:  We are working within a legislative framework, and there are time lines associated with that.  So our plan is to be compliant with that removal of PCBs in accordance to the legislation.


MR. O'BRIEN:  I would also add that our environmental health and safety committee receives a report at every meeting on our progress on that work.


MR. ADAMS:  In terms of the expenses associated with these remediation type of legacy issues, are we looking at something that continues at a fairly flat level for a period of time, or is this an expense item that is subject to annual fluctuation?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I can't give you the details, but I know we have a plan to address those issues, and it's a declining issue as we move forward.  A 2007 date comes into my mind for the last of the large transformers, I believe.


MR. ADAMS:  PCB transformers.


MR. O'BRIEN:  And we are on target for that.


MR. ADAMS:  So at some point in the future, some of these expense categories start to drop off; right?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I think asbestos probably has a longer run, but some of the others would, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Maybe I haven't been careful enough in my interrogatories, but I have the impression that these legacy-contaminated property and equipment issues are imbedded within your programs, not a specific category onto itself so we can see the year over year expenses; is that fair?

MR. O'BRIEN:  I can tell that you we are very cognitive of the issues and we've been working with -- actually, in cooperation with our union, through the environmental health and safety committee, on targeting asbestos particularly.  It's been a major undertaking of ours over the last year.  


As far as the details of the program and the time frames, I would refer that probably to panel 3.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay, I will.  I think this is something Toronto Hydro actually deserves compliments on, but I have the impression that you are somewhat ahead of most of the utilities in terms of -- the Ontario LDCs with respect to PCB abatement.  Is that -- 


MR. O'BRIEN:  I would agree, and I would give a large part of the credit for that to our working relationship with our union.  We have taken on health and safety as a very strong priority and have put that as a top priority.


MR. ADAMS:  If we were attempting to benchmark the underlying costs and comparing the different LDCs, and I understand from comments I received about the cross‑examination this morning that's not a high priority for your utility, but let's take as a hypothetical that someone was trying to undertake work of that kind.  It occurs to me that it might make sense to attempt to track the contaminated property issue as one of the cost items that might be an identifiable factor driving your costs as compared with other utilities.


MR. HAINES:  As we talked about, there is always risk in comparing, and that might be one of the ones where we are different.  So in order to get back to a level playing field, you might have to pull some things out and add some things back in, that's right.


MR. ADAMS:  Let me just move into the area of reliability again to get a sense for how you are doing on capital and operations planning.


In Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 16, page 8, there's a discussion relating to SAIDI there.  The origin of this interrogatory was to look at distribution plant and general plant investments.  We tried to get a couple of examples to try and understand what was driving your decision‑making there.  And one of the factors that was identified is the SAIDI issue as an identified factor driving your decision to stand on an outage management and customer service delivery project.


Is there some place in the evidence we can go to have a long-term view of what your SAIDI trend is?


MR. HAINES:  I'm not sure if it's in the evidence or not.  We can certainly pull it out.  I can give you a generic discussion about it now, but I can certainly get you the last five years, for example.


MR. ADAMS:  Why don't you just give me at a high level here?  What I was trying to grasp is that there is a reference here in the interrogatory response saying that prior to 2005, other projects had higher priority.  So I was trying to understand, was there a bump-up in your SAIDI that caused you to reorient your priorities for 2005?


MR. HAINES:  No, I think, as I recall, if memory serves me, '04 was one of our best SAIDI years ever.  There was, as I recall, quite ‑‑ a great summer and very few storms.  So graphically, I believe what we've seen in SAIDI is it generally improving.  We had a great year, and then we popped up a little bit I think last year the way we recorded number of minutes out per customer.  I think we were in around the 72 minutes range, which is slightly higher than our low, but there wasn't a change in trend, or anything like that, that caused us to change that.


When we talk about SAIDI and customer service and the need for outage management, that's been driven on a somewhat different requirement.


MR. ADAMS:  Just before we leave off from your previous answer, you said that you could generate a five-year annualized ‑‑


MR. HAINES:  Yes.  I don't think it's in here.  I have seen it, though.  I'm just working off memory here now.


MR. ADAMS:  Could we get that as a transcript undertaking, just to complete that?


MR. HAINES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I think that's undertaking U1.4, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. 1.4:  PROVIDE FIVE-YEAR ANNUALIZED SAIDI.

MR. ADAMS:  In future years, you've ‑‑ you're proposing an increase in your capital spending, an increase in overall expenses also in the O&M area.  Should customers be expecting to see a continuing decline in these indicators of unreliability -- improvement in reliability?


MR. HAINES:  I'm not sure you can directly attribute it that way.  For example, the plant has aged.  It hasn't failed.  We are going to invest in it to ensure that it doesn't -- that SAIDI doesn't decline.  We are getting down to pretty high-performance numbers in terms of SAIDI.  Can we do better?  Yes, we try for better every year.  One of our performance targets was to stretch SAIDI further than it ever had been before, and so we continue to drive at that.  


The need for the outage management system is both a SAIDI and a customer service decision, and so both of those factors go into that decision.


MR. ADAMS:  You just used the phrase "high performance" with respect to your SAIDI performance.  That's high performance relative to what?


MR. HAINES:  To our own experience.


MR. ADAMS:  To your own experience, but not compared with others?


MR. HAINES:  Yes, our own experience.  As I said earlier, we've had this decline of SAIDI over a number of years.


MR. ADAMS:  So the overall trend in your delivery performance is favourable.  Do you have a target level you are trying to achieve?


MR. HAINES:  Part of our compensation is based on a SAIDI target, and so, yes, we have SAIDI targets established each year.


MR. ADAMS:  Maybe in the transcript undertaking, maybe you could add the target levels for each of the years so that we can compare the --


MR. HAINES:  I'm not sure how far back the performance targets are.  


MR. O'BRIEN:  Where we have them, we'll deliver them.


MR. ADAMS:  Add them in so we can see how that works.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Our objective in customer service, as far as outage is concerned, is to get to the customer before they get to us with respect to an outage.  It would be great if you could contact the customer and say, We know there's an outage, here's what has happened and here's what we are doing about it and here's when we project it will be repaired.


MR. ADAMS:  When you are tracking reliability of performance, are we just talking SAIDI, or are there other power quality issues, harmonics, for example?


MR. O'BRIEN:  We don't know.  We've only tracked those three.


MR. ADAMS:  Do you see a trend from your customers demanding higher levels of performance, more demanding quality control requirements?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I'm not sure.  Higher levels of performance for quality control, but our customers want better response to an outage issue.  I'm having a dialogue right now with the provincial government with respect to the smart meter and the technology of a smart meter and how it can help us with outage management.  A two-way communication smart meter allows us to monitor outage when it happens and use that information to better serve the customer, I think.  


Now, whether it goes there or not is a policy matter of the Government of Ontario based on price.  My objective is to be able to say to the customer, We know there is an outage and we're telling you there is an outage, so don't worry about it.  But more importantly is, This is how long the outage will be.  We believe we can repair it in such and such a period of time.  


I'm very interested in moving our level of service to that level as a company.


MR. ADAMS:  One of the technologies that are lost to us are (inaudible) with regard to improved conservation performance and the power system is moving some of the motor stock to three-phase motors, but my understanding is that some of these modern motors and their associated controllers are very sensitive to issues like harmonics that have historically not been tracked by utilities.  They were not really considered to be much of an issue, but now that the technical requirements of ‑‑ on the customer side are at a higher standard, this is something that may affect utilities in the future.


Is this something that you are expecting to see?


MR. HAINES:  We are aware of that issue, and we are also aware of some technologies that can help with that issue.  Where we see it, in particular, the sensitivity around the quality of power, is particularly around things like hospitals, where some of their x‑ray equipment is very sensitive to quality of power.  So when we see a 5 percent reduction, for example, that affects that equipment.  It effectively becomes non-operational.


So we see those kind of effects coming from our customers, but the scenario that you are describing there we haven't seen from our customers as a trend yet.


MR. ADAMS:  I'm just trying to look out in the future and see where we are going for capital planning.  If customers are requiring a different quality of service than they have historically, the utilities are going to be affected by that?


MR. HAINES:  Some customers will have a higher requirement, that's right.


MR. ADAMS:  Does it make sense ‑‑ well.  I'll ask one final question here.  I appreciate that I may be getting a little too far ahead of your '06 budget, but just one final area.  


If customers have a particular need for high performance power service of some kind and the utility is in a position to provide that, could we potentially foresee an evolution towards a quality-differentiated rate structure, higher price for different quality of service?


MR. O'BRIEN:  The answer is theoretically is that something we are probably going to be faced with in the future?  Yes.  I'm not sure we can do it.  I have to think that through, but just like I think people -- our customers are in all kinds of businesses are willing to pay a little extra for that level of service.  I think our customers will ‑‑ particularly our commercial industrial customers will get there some day.


MR. ADAMS:  You that very much.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Mr. McIntosh, do you have any questions?  


MR. McINTOSH:  No sir.



MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POCH: 

MR. POCH:  Just five minutes Mr. Chairman.


Gentlemen, we heard earlier how your performance pay regime has -- as you go up the hierarchy in your organization, more of the performance pay is related to the overall performance of the organization; correct?  And by that, you mean its financial performance?


MR. O'BRIEN:  No, it's a multitude of measures.  Finance is one of them.


MR. POCH:  I apologize, I wasn't here as ‑‑ 


MR. O'BRIEN:  Let us give you an example.  


MR. POCH:  Is one of the -- do any of your senior executives have a performance pay tied to line loss reduction success, distribution loss reduction?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I think not specifically, but we do have a measure, for instance, with respect to conservation.  In our company, conservation ‑‑ our commitment to deliver conservation to a certain level each year is measured, and our performance pay is dedicated to that.


MR. POCH:  And is line loss reduction measured as part of that, or is that a separate item?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I think it's a separate item.


MR. POCH:  Does anybody in your organization have performance pay that hinges on distribution loss reduction?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I don't believe so, no.


MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.


QUESTIONS FROM THE PANEL:

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Brien, I want to ask a couple of questions about conservation.  I'm going to give you a copy of the OPA's recent report on supply mix advice.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you like that marked as an exhibit, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we're up to L1.5.


EXHIBIT NO. L1.5:  OPA SUPPLY MIX ADVICE REPORT.

MR. KAISER:  Now, you addressed in your opening statement and your evidence the efforts that Toronto Hydro has taken with respect to conservation and the programs that you advanced, together with the other Members of the CLD, which ‑‑ and I said this before, it is generally agreed and recognized that that was well thought out, created, a well-presented exercise in its initial application and approval process, and it appears to have produced results which probably exceed all of our expectations.  Would you agree with that?


MR. HAINES:  I would, yes.


MR. KAISER:  In this report which, as you would know, was requested by the Minister back on May 2nd -- and just going with me, if you will.  On page 2, the OPA recounts the obvious.  They say in that third paragraph, page 2:

"Together the combination, demand growth and generation retirements, create a gap of roughly 24,000 megawatts by 2005, equivalent to about 80 percent of Ontario's current capacity."


Just stopping there, you and Mr. Haines have brought to our attention that this rate case is going to include perhaps an extraordinary level of capital expenditures and other expenditures on your part to deal with the problem of aging plant.  So it would appear even though you are more in the transmission and distribution business than the generation business, that even Toronto Hydro ‑‑ Toronto Hydro shares the same problem that the province does at large, that it wouldn't appear the physical plant has kept pace with the demands on the economy?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I would say, yes, Mr. Chairman, that's obviously why we're increasing our capital expenditure.


MR. KAISER:  I'm wondering, given the nature of this problem that we suddenly find ourselves with, whether you have any views as, and dealing just from Toronto's perspective, why this situation developed as it did?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I have a number of views that I would be more than pleased to share with the Board, Mr. Chairman.


I believe that the issue in Ontario is one of simply not keeping pace with a capital refurbishment program that should have been a continuum.  And I'm not pointing the finger at any particular government for that.  I think it's been a successive problem, if you want, over a number of years.  


There have been policy decisions made at various levels with respect to the supply mix and how that mix should be managed.  The decision with respect to coal is a perfect example of that.  The decision now been made that coal will be taken out of the mix, per se.  I'm not going to debate here whether that is a good idea or not, but it obviously has an impact on the supply that's available and the consequent cost of replacing that piece of the supply.


So my sense is that this is an evolutionary failure, if you want, to address that broader issue of ensuring that we've always got that supply fairly modernized, fairly up to date and at least in sync with the demands of the economy at the particular time.


I would venture to say that one of the reasons that Ontario has been such a successful economy over the years is because of the presence of reliable, well-priced electricity.


MR. KAISER:  The supply issues are one thing.  You are really not in the supply business.  You are really not in the generation business, but you are in the distribution business.  And interestingly enough, at the local level, the municipal level or the distribution level, we seem to face the same problem, that we've fallen behind in terms of investing in plant.  


And I'm not interested in just the theoretical reasons.  I want to know why you think ‑‑ that clearly wasn't prudent behaviour on behalf of the utility to let that happen.  Nobody would disagree with that.  And you've said, One of my missions is to fix that, quite properly.


What would do we do in the future to make sure this doesn't repeat itself?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, I think that utilities have to have access to capital to achieve that and we have to create an environment that allows that access to capital.


MR. KAISER:  Now, is that a problem you face now?  Is it the situation that you would say, with respect to Toronto Hydro, that lack of access to proper capital has been one of the determinants of the failure to invest?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I think historically, it might have been, yes.


MR. KAISER:  That would be, i.e., the city didn't want to pony up the dollars to put it through?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Possibly that, or other priorities that were placed on the system or on the utility by the city, for example.


The other thing that I think is important is sort of the regulatory environment in which we work that allows that ‑‑ that allows the distribution companies to have the ability to improve that infrastructure.  I think it's very important that ‑‑ I look at Toronto as an example, you know, the largest utility in Canada, the largest municipal electric utility in Canada, but more than that, it has some very unique characteristics that you won't find in other municipalities across this province.  


It's very important that this particular utility improves its infrastructure and improve it very quickly.


I equate this, to some extent -- and I know this is not a proper thing to do, but in my simple mind I sort of look at it this way:  If the provincial government has to spend $70 billion, I think was the number, to improve the generation capacity of the province, it's beholden upon us as a utility to have our system in place so that we can actually distribute that electricity and not worry about it failing at some point in time.  


We could become the weak link in the chain.  I've kind of got my head in that mode.


MR. KAISER:  The other thing that this report addresses ‑ and I'm referring in this case to page 5 - they talk about conservation and say conservation and other forms of demand management must be a major part of any plan.  They go on to say that they explored a range of gains from 1,800 to 4,300 megawatts and concluded that 1,800 megawatts, 5 percent of the requirements, was a reasonable and prudent assumption.  


I point out this was not the target of the OPA's chief conservation officer.  Then they go on to -- taking you to the end of this, page 61, again under conservation:

"Ministers first requested recommendation was for conservation targets for the long term.  The OPA is not in a position to recommend a long‑term conservation target at this time.  The chief electricity conservation officer will address targets in the future."


Now, this estimate by the OPA of the megawatts that could be gained from conservation over the term of this plan, which was to 2025, is pretty important, because that's generation that doesn't have to be built.  And your utility, one of the largest, you've got 40 million that you are putting into conservation over a three-year period.  


A couple of questions.  Have you had any discussions with the OPA as to what targets you should be looking at in Toronto Hydro over and above third tranche?


MR. O'BRIEN:  We haven't had any particular discussions with OPA on future targets.  We have talked to them about the need to ensure that not just Toronto Hydro, but all utilities in the province, continue to spend on conservation.  And I said that this morning in my comments, that my intention is to come forward in future years with a conservation budget as part of our application.  I think it's very important.


But I think, Mr. Chairman, the issue here is really the commitment to conservation that exists within the sector today.  I believe it's very important that somehow that commitment be enforced.  If we're going to achieve these targets, everybody has to be on board to achieve those targets.  It can't be left to, Well, I think I can do it or maybe I can't do it.  


Toronto Hydro, as an example, is the only utility in Ontario that has actually set itself a target, and that's equal to the provincial target of 5 percent.  Our target is to reduce our peak consumption by 250 megawatts, which is 5 percent of our consumption.


MR. KAISER:  And that is over what period?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Three years, over that '05, '06, '07 period.


MR. KAISER:  Will you be able to do that with third tranche funding, or will you have to adjust more?


MR. O'BRIEN:  I believe we can do it with third tranche funding.


MR. KAISER:  Do you see any reason or rationale for investing more in third tranche in conservation?  Is there some reason why you wouldn't put more dollars into it?


MR. O'BRIEN:  At the present, not right now, only because the demands on our staff and our resources to achieve the initial third tranche spend are very significant, and I think it's reflected in our spending as a percentage of the provincial spend that we are meeting those targets.


MR. KAISER:  In your annual report, and also in your evidence today, you mention the success of some of these programs, and this is at page 2 of your annual report.  You indicate that this LED program reduced consumption, you estimated, by 215 kilowatts, the compact fluorescents by 211 kilowatt hours.


You mentioned the success of these programs when you talked about your Home Depot program and it exceeded your expectations by five-fold, or whatever it was.


Given the very interesting response to these programs, both the air‑conditioning one and the compact fluorescents, why don't you run them on a continuing basis?


MR. O'BRIEN:  That's an excellent question.  We are actually thinking that through right now.  I've often said to our people, Let's start making this a permanent part of our business, and we are reviewing that, yes.


MR. KAISER:  It seems to be a no-brainer.  People seem to want it and it seems to work.  The results are predictable.


MR. O'BRIEN:  You're right, and I believe that we will get there eventually.  My objective is that conservation becomes an inherent part of not only our company, but our customers' way of doing things.  I spent a morning at a Home Depot and spoke with the customers who were coming through on this.  Universally, it was regarded as a wonderful idea, but a very interesting phenomenon happens.  When you give them two, they take them home and plug them in or turn them in, and they think, Gee, they work.  Let's go buy three more.  And that's kind of where I want to take this thing.  Let's just make it an ongoing part of the plan.


MR. KAISER:  Do you think there's any way to measure that? Have you turned your mind, in terms of dealing with the Home Depot people, saying, you know, Is there any way we can track?  If we give them two, they buy five?


MR. O'BRIEN:  We do track that, and we have statistics on that.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Rodger, anything by way of re‑examination?


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Just one matter, Mr. Chair.  Mr. O'Brien, when Mr. Millar was asking you some questions this morning, one area of questioning was with respect to your role at Toronto Hydro Corporation and how that translates in the benefit for ratepayers of the LDC.  


I wonder if you could just explain your range of duties and how, for example, they differ from Mr. Black of the LDC.


MR. O'BRIEN:  Well, my role in Toronto Hydro Corporation's group of companies, if we want to put it that way, is one of overall policy leadership.  I probably spend 70 to 80 hours a week on the job.  I'm normally in the office at 6:00 and rarely leave before 8:00.  And in that period of time, I will do a myriad of things.  It may be dealing with the provincial government on policy or legislation.  


I was actually seconded at one time, before I became president and CEO of Toronto Hydro, as the Associate Deputy Minister and ultimately the Deputy Minister of Energy, so I have a relationship with the province in that area, and I do spend a lot of my time with them.  


I spend time with our shareholder on a regular basis.  I spend time dealing with the Board -- the Board Staff on issues -- not so much the Staff, but more the Board members.  I'm actively involved with the Ontario Power Authority and discussions that they are having now with respect to future generation in Toronto; time with our shareholder particularly with respect to issues that relate to dividend policy, I'll put it that way, and the use of dividends.


That's kind of one piece of the work that I'm involved with.  Other pieces involve ‑‑ I have -- Mr. Haines and Mr. Black both report to me, and I meet with them with respect to issues in their respective areas of influence.  I have a large amount of my time interacting with our board of directors on corporate policy matters.


All of that has benefit to the wires company, the distribution company, in one form or another.


MR. RODGER:  And just in terms of how you would yourself allocate all those kinds of policies, strategic functions, allocated to the LDC versus the various affiliates, what kind of split would you say?  How much of that policy work is devoted to LDC activity versus the other company activity?


MR. O'BRIEN:  By and large, the vast majority of it is related to the LDC activity, the vast majority.


MR. RODGER:  Would you give us some kind of ballpark percentage?


MR. O'BRIEN:  Ninety-seven percent.


MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions.  Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  We'll reconvene Thursday, 9:30, to hear panel 2.  Thank you, gentlemen.  

‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:00 p.m.
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